Final

Environmental Assessment Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility Nellis Air Force Base, NV



December 2005

	Report Docume	entation Page			Form Approved IB No. 0704-0188
maintaining the data needed, and c including suggestions for reducing	lection of information is estimated to completing and reviewing the collect this burden, to Washington Headqu uld be aware that notwithstanding ar DMB control number.	ion of information. Send comments arters Services, Directorate for Info	regarding this burden estimate mation Operations and Reports	or any other aspect of the s, 1215 Jefferson Davis	is collection of information, Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington
1. REPORT DATE DEC 2005		2. REPORT TYPE		3. DATES COVE 00-00-2005	RED 5 to 00-00-2005
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE				5a. CONTRACT	NUMBER
	tal Assessment Cons		cations	5b. GRANT NUM	1BER
Squadron Facility	Nellis Air Force Bas	se, in v		5c. PROGRAM E	LEMENT NUMBER
5. AUTHOR(S) 5d. PROJECT NUMBER		JMBER			
				5e. TASK NUMB	ER
				5f. WORK UNIT	NUMBER
	zation name(s) and ae f f Engineers,Omaha 68102-4978	. ,	17th	8. PERFORMINC REPORT NUMB	G ORGANIZATION ER
9. SPONSORING/MONITO	RING AGENCY NAME(S) A	ND ADDRESS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/M	ONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
				11. SPONSOR/M NUMBER(S)	ONITOR'S REPORT
12. DISTRIBUTION/AVAII Approved for publ	LABILITY STATEMENT ic release; distributi	ion unlimited			
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NO	OTES				
14. ABSTRACT					
15. SUBJECT TERMS					
16. SECURITY CLASSIFIC	ATION OF:		17. LIMITATION OF	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF
a. REPORT unclassified	b. ABSTRACT unclassified	c. THIS PAGE unclassified	ABSTRACT Same as Report (SAR)	OF PAGES 83	RESPONSIBLE PERSON

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8-98) Prescribed by ANSI Std Z39-18

Final

Environmental Assessment Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility Nellis Air Force Base, NV

Prepared For

Department of the Air Force 99 CES/CEV 4349 Duffer Drive, Suite 1601 Nellis AFB NV 89191-7001

Prepared By

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Omaha District 213 North 17th Street Omaha, Nebraska 68102-4978

Technical Assistance

FPM Group, Ltd. 2430 Paseo Del Prado Suite D306/306 Las Vegas, NV 89102

December 2005

FINDING OF NO SIGNIFICANT IMPACT (FONSI)

1.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION AND ALTERNATIVES

Current operational readiness at Nellis Air Force Base (NAFB) is degraded due to the risk of failure of the base network control center, which currently provides communication services to over 8,000 users across three wings, as well as the air warfare center. The United States Air Force (USAF) proposes to build a Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility (CCSF) to replace the current facility, which is housed in an aged and unsafe building. The new building will provide a more centrally-located customer service area, and will allow for necessary future network control center expansions. This consolidated building would also allow for demolition of three buildings that are geographically separated and used for the communications operations at NAFB.

The proposed action is construction, operation, and maintenance of an adequately sized and properly configured CCSF to support the various communication and data processing requirements of the flying mission at NAFB. The facility will support critical functions including Command Section, Network Control Center Services, Communications Maintenance Work Centers, Television Production, Photographic Elements, and all other administrative support areas The CCSF will be located at NAFB on a parcel bounded on the west by March Boulevard, the north by Beale Avenue, the east by Holloman Avenue, and the south by Fitzgerald Boulevard. The facility will be a multistory building providing approximately 81,790 sq. ft. for use as offices, equipment areas, operation areas, conference rooms, and other personnel support areas.

This proposed action also includes the demolition of the three buildings currently used for supporting the communications squadron activities. Building 839 is currently designated for demolition due to unsafe conditions. Buildings 589 and 595 are in such poor condition that renovation is not a cost effective option. These buildings are also to be demolished as part of this project.

In this analysis, a no action alternative (continuance of communication operations at NAFB in the current facilities) was used. It is important to note that the current facilities are rapidly degrading and would require significant repair if communication operations were to remain in place. Water leakage is a serious problem in all three buildings. Further, the current space available is not adequate and would not allow for expansion.

2.0 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES

This environmental assessment concludes that some minor impacts are imposed on the environment by the project and are discussed in detail in the EA. All impacts are considered to be negligible and not significant. In fact, the proposed action will actually result in a slight improvement in the environment compared to the no action alternative. This is mostly due to the fact that the CCSF is sorely needed at NAFB, the facility will house environmentally "clean" operations, the facility is being built in an area that has been previously developed, the action will demolish buildings currently considered to be unsafe and containing asbestos containing materials, and the action will definitely improve safety and security of aircraft operations at NAFB.

3.0 CONCLUSION

The proposed action does not represent a major federal action with significant impacts to the human or natural environment; therefore, an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) is not required. A FONSI is thus warranted.

SSI.

Michael R. Scott Colonel, USAF Vice Commander

3Febol Date

LIST	OF TAB	LES	iii
LIST	OF FIG	JRES	iv
LIST	OF APP	ENDICES	iv
EXEC	UTIVE	SUMMARY	v
LIST	OF ACF	RONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	viii
1.0	PURP	OSE AND NEED FOR THE PROPOSED ACTION	1-1
	1.1	Purpose of the Proposed Action	
	1.2	Need for the Proposed Action	
	1.3	Regulatory Requirements	
2.0	DESC	RIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION AND ALTERNATIVES	2-1
	2.1	Location of the Project Site	
	22	Proposed Action	
	2.3	Alternatives	
	2.4	No Action Alternative	
3.0	AFFE	CTED ENVIRONMENT	
	3.1	Geology/Physiography	
	3.2	Soils	
	3.3	Climate	
	3.4	Minerals and Energy Resources	
	3.5	Visual Resources	
	3.6		
	3.0	Cultural Resources	
		3.6.1 Historic Properties	
		3.6.2 Prehistoric Sites	
		3.6.3 Traditional Cultural Resources	
	3.7	Wilderness Areas	
	3.8	Water Resources	
	3.9	Air Quality	
	3.10	Noise	
	3.11	Land Use	
		3.11.1 CCSF	
		3.11.2 Buildings 595 and 589	
		3.11.3 Building 839	
	3.12	Biological Resources	
		3.12.1 Vegetation	
		3.12.2 Wildlife	
		3.12.3 Endangered and Threatened Species	3-11
	3.13	Airspace.	
	3.14	Safety	
	3.15	Socioeconomics	
	3.16	Environmental Justice	
	3.17	Utilities	
	0.11	o the board of the	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	3.18	Hazardous Materials and Items of Special Concern	
	1.0000000	3.18.1 Hazardous and Petroleum Materials and Wastes	
		3.18.2 Storage Tanks	
		3.18.3 Pesticides	
		3.18.4 Solid Waste	
		3.18.5 Asbestos	
		3.18.6 Polychlorinated Biphenyls	
		3.18.7 Radon	
		3,18.8 Lead-Based Paint	
4.0	ENVI	RONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES	
	4.1	Geology and Physiography	4-1
	4.2	Soils	4-1
	4.3	Climate	
	4.4	Minerals and Energy Resources	
	4.5	Visual Resources	
	4.6	Cultural Resources	
	4.7	Wilderness Areas	
	4.8	Water Resources	
	4.9	Air Quality	
	4.10	Noise	
	4.11	Land Use	
	4.12	Biological Resources	
	4.13	Airspace	
	4.14	Safety	
	4.15	Socioeconomics	
	4.16	Environmental Justice	
	4.17	Utilities	
	4.18	Hazardous Materials and Items of Special Concern	4-7
5.0		ULATIVE EFFECTS AND IRREVERSIBLE AND	
		TRIEVABLE COMMITMENT OF RESOURCES	
	5.1	Cumulative Impacts	
	5.2	Unavoidable Adverse Impacts	
	53	Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitment of Resources	
	5.4		
		Environment and Maintenance of Long-Term Productivity	5-1
6.0	2012 C 00	ERENCES	
	6.1	Regulations, Laws, Orders	6-1
	6.2	General	6-4
7.0	LIST	OF PREPARERS	7-1

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1-1:	Other Major Federal Environmental Statutes, Regulations, and Executive Orders Applicable to Federal Projects
Table 1-2.	Permits that will be required for construction of the Communication Squadron Facility and demolition of Buildings 589, 593, and 839
Table 4-1.	Comparison of the emissions predicted for the CCSF and demolition of buildings 595, 589, and 839, de minimus quantities, 2004 total emissions of NAFB, and the total allowable emissions being proposed for the new Title V permit for NAFB.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1:	Regional map showing the location of the project area
Figure 2-2:	USGS 7.5 minute topographic map showing the location of the consolidated communications facility at NAFB
Figure 2-3:	Location of the project area on a map of a portion of Nellis AFB2-3
Figure 2-4:	Aerial photograph of the consolidated communications facility and surrounding area at Nellis AFB
Figure 2-5:	Aerial photograph of Building 839 and surrounding area at Nellis AFB2-6
Figure 2-6:	Aerial photograph of Buildings 589 and 595 and surrounding area at Nellis AFB
Figure 3-1:	USGS 7.5 minute topographic map showing the geologic outcrops on the project site and vicinity
Figure 3-2:	Aerial photograph of the project site and vicinity as shown in the soil survey showing soil mapping units
Figure 3-3:	Noise zones located at the project site as determined by studies conducted for the F/A environmental impact statement in 1999
Figure 3-4:	Current condition of the project site for construction of the Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility at Nellis AFB
Figure 3-5:	Drawing showing land use around Buildings 595 and 589
Figure 3-6:	Drawing showing land use around Building 839

List of Appendices

- Appendix A: Form 813 and Form 1391 Appendix B. Photographs

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The proposed action is construction, operation, and maintenance of an adequately sized and properly configured CCSF to support the various communication and data processing requirements of the flying mission at NAFB. The facility will support critical functions including Command Section, Network Control Center Services, Communications Maintenance Work Centers, Television Production, Photographic Elements, and all other administrative support areas. The CCSF will be located at NAFB on a parcel bounded on the west by March Boulevard, the north by Beale Avenue, the east by Holloman Avenue, and the south by Fitzgerald Boulevard. The facility will be a multistory building providing approximately 81,790 sq. ft. for use as offices, equipment areas, operation areas, conference rooms, and other personnel support areas.

This proposed action also includes the demolition of the three buildings currently used for supporting the communications squadron activities. Building 839 is currently designated for demolition due to unsafe conditions. Buildings 589 and 595 are in such poor condition that renovation is not a cost effective option. These buildings are also to be demolished as part of this project.

In determining the proposed site and action, a preliminary analysis of reasonable options for accomplishing the project was conducted. Some of these options included status quo, renovation of previously constructed buildings, upgrading or removal of currently constructed buildings, and new construction. The analysis indicated that only one option, the proposed action, would meet operational requirements.

In this analysis, a no action alternative (continuance of communication operations at NAFB in the current facilities) was considered. It is important to note that the current facilities are rapidly degrading and would require significant repair if communication operations were to remain in place. Water leakage is a serious problem in all three buildings. Further, the current space available is not adequate and would not allow for expansion.

The findings of this environmental assessment indicate that only minor impacts to various aspects of the environment will be realized. The no action alternative results in more impacts to the environment than the proposed action. Potential impacts for each environmental resource are the following:

- Geology and Physiography: The no action alternative will have little or no impacts on geology and physiography. However, under the no action alternative, buildings would be more susceptible to earthquakes than buildings constructed in the proposed action.
- Soils: Under the proposed action, considerable disturbance to the soil surface will
 occur during construction and demolition. This exposes the soils to wind erosion and
 water erosion and temporarily impacts plant growth on the soil surface.
- Climate: No impacts are anticipated for the no action alternative. The proposed action my result in some changes in microclimate due to shading caused by the physical structure of the building.
- Mineral and Energy Resources: Because no mineral or energy resources have been discovered on NAFB, no impacts to those resources are anticipated.

- Visual Resources: The proposed action will result in some obstruction of viewscapes by the new CCSF. However, overall visual aesthetics of the base will be improved by demolition of the old buildings and the replacement of those buildings with new buildings and properly designed, native landscaping.
- Cultural Resources: No impacts to cultural resources will be imposed by the no action alternative or the proposed action.
- Wilderness Areas: No impacts to wilderness areas, parks, or wildlife management areas will be imposed by either action.
- Water Resources: No impacts to floodplains, streams, wetlands, or groundwater will be imposed by the no action alternative or the proposed action.
- Air Quality: The proposed action will impose a short-term increase in particulate matter pollution during construction, excavation, and demolition activities. The action will result in a slight, but negligible increase in CO. VOC, and NO_x emissions. The net emissions of the project were checked against the proposed Title V permit application, and their contribution to the total emissions allowed by the permit was found to be negligible. No other impacts to air quality are anticipated.
- Noise: No impacts or changes to the present noise levels at NAFB will be caused by either construction or operation of the proposed action.
- Land Use: The proposed action will result in a change in the use of the property
 proposed for the CCSF. However, this use is minor in that it is a change from a
 small picnic or meeting area and parking lot to a commercial office building. Proper
 landscaping around the CCSF will allow for some of the previous land use to
 continue even after construction.
- Biological Resources: The proposed action will result in minor alterations in vegetation and wildlife, but these are considered insignificant, and, in some cases, transient and short-term. All of the areas impacted by the proposed action are currently landscaped, and this can be easily replaced by strategic placement of small areas of green space and proper landscaping with native plants.
- Air Space: No impacts to airspace are anticipated for the no action alternative or proposed action.
- Safety: The no action alternative will result in some impacts to safety, due to the fact that Buildings 589, 595, and 839 are currently considered structurally unsafe. Continued use of these buildings would result in possible injury to residents or users. The proposed action will remove these buildings and result in a positive move toward safer conditions.
- Socioeconomics: The proposed action will provide more employment opportunities for civilian and military personnel, as well as professional and non-professional contractors and subcontractors. The facility will improve efficiency in NAFB and will result in an overall positive impact to socioeconomics of NAFB and surrounding areas.
- Environmental Justice: No impacts to environmental justice are anticipated for the no action alternative or the proposed action.

- Utilities: No impacts to utilities are anticipated, though the new facility may result in an increase in use of electricity and other utilities, which would be a positive economic impact to the community.
- Hazardous Materials and Items of Special Concern: In general, no impacts to these resources are anticipated for the proposed action. However, the no action alternative could result in the release of friable asbestos because of continued degradation of the older buildings. Demolition of the buildings could result in the release of asbestos, but this will be minimized by use of standard asbestos abatement procedures required by the USAF.
- Cumulative Impacts: Cumulative impacts due to the no action alternative or proposed action are expected to be negligible.

It is concluded that the proposed action will result in a slight improvement in the environment could be expected. In general, the overall impact of the proposed action would be less than that of the no action alternative. Thus, the conclusion of this environmental assessment is to issue a finding of no significant impact.

LIST OF ACRONYMS

ACC	Air Combat Command	NAAQS	National Ambient Air Quality Standards
ACM	Asbestos Containing Material	NAFB	Nellis Air Force Base
AFI	Air Force Instruction	NAGPRA	Native American Graves
	Air i orde instruction	NACI IV	Protection and Repatriation Act
410117	Air Installation Connectible Line	NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act
AICUZ	Air Installation Compatible Use Zone		
AIRFA	American Indian Religious Freedom Act	NHPA	National Historic Preservation Act
APZ	Accident Potential Zone	NO ₂	Nitrogen Dioxide
ARPA	Archaeological and Historic	NOAA	National Oceanic and
74471	Preservation Act		Atmospheric Administration
AST	Aboveground Storage Tank	O3	Ozone
BLM	Bureau of Land Management	Pb	Lead
CAA	Clean Air Act	PCi/L	Pico Curies per Liter
동안 이 이 것 같아. 영상 이 것 같아.		PL	Public Law
CCSF	Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility	PL	Public Law
CEQ	Council on Environmental	PM ₁₀	Particulate Matter less than 10
	Quality		microns in diameter
CERCLA	Comprehensive Environmental	RCRA	Resource Conservation and
	Response Compensation and		Recovery Act
	Liability Act		
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations	ROI	Region of Influence
co	Carbon Monoxide	SDWA	Safe Drinking Water Act
COMM	Communications Squadron	SO2	Sulfur Dioxide
CWA	Clean Water Act	TSCA	Toxic Substances Control Act
dB	않았다 가지 않는 것 같아. 거리가 가지 않아? 그는 것 같아?	USAF	United States Air Force
	Decibel		
DoD	U.S. Department of Defense	USC	United States Code
DOI	U.S. Department of the Interior	U.S.	United States
EA	Environmental Assessment	USDA	U.S. Department of Agriculture
EIS	Environmental Impact Statement	USFWS	U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
EO	Executive Order	USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection	UST	Underground Storage Tanks
E A	Agency	001	onderground otorage ranks
FLPMA	Federal Land Policy and	°F	Degrees Fahrenheit
FLEIMA		- F	Degrees Famermen
FONG	Management Act	00.00	ooth Communications Considered
FONSI	Finding of No Significant Impact	99 CS	99 [™] Communications Squadron
FWPCA	Federal Water Pollution Control		
	Act		
FY	Fiscal Year		

1.0 PURPOSE AND NEED FOR THE PROPOSED ACTION

NAFB is located in the southeast corner of the state of Nevada north of Las Vegas and east of North Las Vegas in Clark County. NAFB is part of the United States Air Force's Air Combat Command and is home to the largest Advance Air Command Training Center in the world. NAFB provides training for composite strike forces that include every type of aircraft in the USAF inventory. Training is also conducted in conjunction with air and ground units of the Army, Navy, and Marine Corps as well as air forces from other allied nations.

As would be expected for any military operation, a viable, state-of-the art communications system is critical. The current facilities available for communication systems at NAFB are geographically separated in three different buildings that are old and in need of repair. In addition, these buildings have serious problems with water leakage, which can lead to equipment damage and failure. Good, efficient communications are mandatory for the operations and maintenance of a facility as large as NAFB and the Nellis Testing and Training Range. With these facts in mind, it was determined that a new, updated facility capable of future growth should be constructed to house a consolidated communications operation.

1.1 PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSED ACTION

Current operational readiness at NAFB is degraded due to the risk of failure of the base network control center facility, which provides communication services to over 8,000 users across three wings, as well as the Air Warfare Center. A consolidated communications squadron facility (CCSF) is needed because the current facility is located in an aged and unsafe building. The new building would provide a more centrally located communication customer service area and would facilitate necessary and future network control center expansions. Currently, 99 CS occupies three geographically separated, asbestos laden 35 year old buildings, which hamper facility upgrades and expansions. Building 839. constructed in 1955, has already been assigned a Facility Condition Code 3 (forced use) designation and is currently on the base facility demolition list. Building 589, which houses critical network control center operations and support areas, is damaged with a large crack in the roof spanning over 150 ft. and 3 in. wide in some areas. This crack allows water to continually leak on internal ceiling tiles, causing them to collapse and expose asbestos. A leaky roof and moist conditions put network equipment at risk. Damage to network equipment could result in complete loss of network capabilities and could severely impact the following communication services at NAFB: NIPRNET, SIPRNET, all messaging services, e-mail, internet, base paging network, and several other services that are critical to the flying mission. Buildings 589 and 595 have both suffered extensive damage to carpet and furniture due to water leaks. Several offices have been closed temporarily due to damage. Support for flight operations, which includes television production, graphics, and photography customer service areas, are located in two different buildings that are geographically separated. This separation is in violation of AFI 33-117, paragraph 1.8, "Consolidating visual information activities." Current buildings cannot efficiently support the growing communications mission. Thus, the purpose of the proposed action is to provide a new, consolidated building that will properly house and secure the communications systems for NAFB



Photograph 1. Building 589 currently housing the base network control center.



Photograph 2. Building 839.



Photograph 3. Building 595

1.2 NEED FOR THE PROPOSED ACTION

Without modernization of the communications facilities, continued forced operations in dispersed, sub-standard facilities places NAFB communications in a position detrimental to command and control, and at risk of failure due to inadequate working environments. The current situation decreases operational readiness and the ability to effectively support the war-fighting mission. It also jeopardizes the overall security of the base. The 99th Communications Squadron will continue to expend scarce resources, operating in separate and inadequate buildings. The predicated rapid future growth of NAFB will continue to place a huge operating burden on existing substandard communication facilities. Without question, a new CCSF is needed to efficiently accommodate the current and growing communications mission.

1.3 REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

This Environmental Assessment (EA) is prepared in compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)(Public Law [PL] 91-190, 1969, as amended), the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ) Regulations for Implementing the Procedural Provisions of NEPA (40 Code of Federal Regulations [CFR] 1500-1508, 1993), and Air Force Instruction (AFI) 32-7061, the Environmental Impact Analysis Process. The NEPA (PL 91-190, 1969) requires federal agencies to consider environmental consequences of all proposed actions in their decision-making process. The intent of NEPA is to protect, restore, or enhance the environment through a well-informed decision-making process. The CEQ was established under the NEPA to implement and oversee federal policy in this process. To this end, the CEQ issued the Regulations for Implementing the Procedural Provisions of NEPA (40 CFR 1500-1508, 1993). AFI 32-7061 implements the CEQ regulations within the USAF.

The NEPA process is intended to assist the decision makers in understanding the environmental consequences of their actions and in taking appropriate measures that protect, restore, and enhance the environment. Other federal statutes that may apply to the proposed action are listed in Table 1-1.

Environmental Resource	Statutes
Air	Clean Air Act (CAA) of 1970 (PL 95-95), as amended in 1977 and 1990 (PL 91-604); U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Subchapter C-Air Programs (40 CFR 52-99)
Noise	Noise Control Act of 1972 (PL 92-574) and Amendments of 1978 (PL 95- 609); EPA, Subchapter G-Noise Abatement Programs (40 CFT 201-211)
Water	Federal Water Pollution Control Act (FWPCA) of 1972 (PL 92-500) and Amendments: Clean Water Act (CWA) of 1977 (PL 95-217); EPA, Subchapter D-Water Programs (40 CFR 100-149); Water Quality Act of 1987 (PL 100-4); EPA, Subchapter N-Effluent Guidelines and Standards (40 CFR 401-471); Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) of 1972 (PL 95-523) and Amendments of 1986 (PL 99-339); EPA, National Drinking Water Regulations and Underground Injection Control Program (40 CFR 141-149)
Land	Federal Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA) of 1976 (PL 94-579); Military Lands Withdrawal Act (PL 99-606); Land Withdrawal Regulations (43 CFR 2300); Southern Nevada Public Land Management Act of 1988 (PL 105-263)
Biological Resources	Migratory Bird Treaty Act of 1918; Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act of 1958 (PL 85-654); Sikes Act of 1960 (PL 86-97) and Amendments of 1986 (PL 99- 561) and 1997 (PL 105-85 Title XXIX); Endangered Species Act of 1973 (PL 93-205) and Amendments of 1988 (PL 100-478); Fish and Wildlife Conservation Act of 1980 (PL 96-366): Lacey Act Amendments of 1981 (PL 97-79)
Wetlands and Floodplains	Section 401 and 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 (PL 92-500); EPA, subchapter D-Water Programs 40 CFR 100-149 (105 ref); Floodplain Management –1977 (Executive Order [EO] 11988); Protection of Wetlands-1977 (EO 11990); Emergency Wetlands Resources Act of 1986 (PL 99-645); North American Wetlands Conservation Act of 1989 (PL 101-233)
Cultural Resources	National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) of 1966 (16 United States Code [USC] 470 et seq.) (PL 89-665) and Amendments of 1980 (PL 96-515) and 1992 (PL 102-575); Protection and Enhancement of the Cultural Environment-1971 (EO 11593); Indian Sacred Sites-1966 (EO 13007); American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA) of 1978 (PL 95-341); Antiquities Act of 1906; Archaeological Resources Protection Act (ARPA) of 1979 (PL 96-95); Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act (NAGPRA) of 1990 (PL 101-601)
Solid/Hazardous Materials and Waste	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) of 1976 (PL 94-5800), as Amended by (PL 100-582); EPA, Subchapter I-Solid Wastes (40 CFR 240- 280); Comprehensive Environmental Response. Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) of 1980 (42 USC 9601) (PL 96-510); Toxic Substances Control Act (PL 94-496), EPA, Subchapter R-Toxic Substances Control Act (40 CFR 702-799); Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Control Act (40 CFR 162-180); Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (40 CFR 300-399)
Environmental Justice	Federal Action to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations (EO 12898); Protection of Children from Environmental Health Risks and Safety risks (EO 13045)

Table 1-1.	Other Major Federal Environmental Statutes, Regulations, and
	Executive Orders Applicable to Federal Projects

Table 1-2. Permits that will be required for construction of the Communication Squadron Facility and demolition of Buildings 589, 593, and 839.

Building	Permit Required
New Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility	Dust Control Permit Authority to Construct Permit Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan
Building 839	Demolition Notification Form NESHAP Notification of Asbestos Abatement Form (ASB01) Dust Control Permit Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan
Building 595	Demolition Notification Form NESHAP Notification of Asbestos Abatement Form (ASB01) Dust Control Permit Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan
Building 589	Demolition Notification Form NESHAP Notification of Asbestos Abatement Form (ASB01) Dust Control Permit Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan

2.0 DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED ACTION AND ALTERNATIVES

2.1 LOCATION OF THE PROJECT SITE

The project site is located approximately 5 miles northeast of Las Vegas, just east of North Las Vegas. Nevada. The proposed action will be located on the northeast end of the developed portion of NAFB (Figure 2-1). The location of Building 839, Building 595, Building 589, and the CCSF are shown on a USGS topographic map in Figure 2-2 and on a Base map in Figure 2-3.



Figure 2-1. Regional map showing the location of the project area. Source: DeLorme Topo Maps USA





Figure 2-3. Location of the project area on a map of a portion of NAFB. Source: NAFB Civil Engineering

Current project site facilities include a paved parking lot, two one-story buildings (to be left in place), five small portable storage units, outdoor picnic area, and a through street, Offut Ave., which will be closed by the proposed action.

2.2 PROPOSED ACTION

The proposed action is construction, operation, and maintenance of an 81,800 sq. ft. CCSF to support the various communication and data processing requirements of the flying mission at NAFB. The location of the proposed action is shown in Figure 2-4. The CCSF is

to be located at NAFB on a parcel bounded on the west by March Boulevard, the north by Beale Avenue, the east by Holloman Avenue, and the south by Fitzgerald Boulevard. The facility will span across Offut Avenue, blocking it as a though base route at the site. The facility will support critical functions including Command Section, Network Control Center Services, Communications Maintenance Work Centers, Television Production, Photographic Elements, and all other administrative support areas. Approximately 350 persons will be housed in this facility. The facility will provide a "One-Stop Shop" for customer communication requirements. In addition, forced production measures will be designed to comply with DOD standards. The facility will support Indian Springs and NAFB with e-mail, communications, telephone, mail, secure telephone, and classified and unclassified networks.

The building will be a two-story building of conventional construction methods. The site plan and design of the facility have been envisioned to be a campus design with consideration given regarding space planning, architectural considerations, and future facility growth. The proposed action does not include any modifications to perimeter streets and associated curb and gutters with the exception of cut-throughs for new driveways onto the new site.

Site improvements include:

- New sidewalks to connect building entrances to parking areas and street intersections.
- 140 personal parking spaces
- 20 government-owned vehicle spaces
- Loading dock
- New landscape design that complies with the base landscape plan

This proposed action also includes the demolition of the three buildings currently used for supporting the communications squadron activities. Demolition will not proceed until the new CCSF and ITN room have been constructed since no space is available to accommodate these functions if demolition is conducted at the same time as construction. Building 839 is currently designated for demolition due to unsafe conditions. Buildings 589 and 595 are in such poor condition that renovation is not a cost effective option. These buildings are also to be demolished as part of this project.

The proposed site for the CCSF and the buildings to be demolished is illustrated on aerial photographs in Figures 2-4 through 2-6. Copies of AF Form 813 and DD Form 1391c are provided in Appendix A for more detailed information on the project.



squadron facility and surrounding area at NAFB. Source: Clark County Tax Assessor Office. Aerial Dated Spring 2003.



Figure 2-5. Aerial photograph of Building 839 and surrounding area at NAFB. Source: Clark County Tax Assessor Office. Aerial Dated Spring 2003.



2-6. Aerial photograph of Buildings 589 and 595 and surrounding area at NAFB. Source: Clark County Tax Assessor Office. Aerial Dated Spring 2003.

2.3 ALTERNATIVES

In determining the proposed site and action for this project, a preliminary analysis of reasonable options for accomplishing the projects was conducted. Several of the options considered were status quo, renovation of previously constructed buildings, upgrading or removal of currently constructed buildings, and new construction. The analysis indicated that only one option would meet operational requirements, and that option was the proposed action.

2.4 NO ACTION ALTERNATIVE

The no action alternative would be to continue communication operations at NAFB in the current facilities. Construction of a new facility would not be implemented. As previously mentioned, these facilities are rapidly degrading and would require significant repair. Water leakage is a serious problem in all three buildings. In addition, the current space available within these buildings is not adequate for the current and growing communications mission. From an operations standpoint, the no action alternative is not a truly viable option, but will be used as such since it is the best alternative available for this EA.

3.0 AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

3.1 GEOLOGY/PHYSIOGRAPHY

NAFB is situated within the Las Vegas Valley, which is a basin in the Basin and Range physiographic province of Nevada. The Las Vegas Valley is surrounded by mountains comprised primarily of sedimentary and volcanic bedrock. The project area lies on flat alluvial deposits derived from various kinds of rocks, which eventually formed soils with a high content of lime. The alluvial sediments are generally fine to coarse grained in the project area. It is estimated that the Valley fill deposits range from 2,000 ft. to 5,000 ft. thick beneath NAFB.

Because the site is located on an alluvial plain, topography tends to be relatively flat with slopes generally less than 1 percent. The project site itself is almost completely level with a slight slope toward the south-southeast. No active faults are found in the project area or its vicinity. The site is located in Seismic Zone 2B, which is an area of moderate damage potential. Current design standards for NAFB require that new facilities be built according to Seismic Zone 4 standards. Figure 3-1 is a USGS 7.5 minute topographic map that shows the geologic outcrops found on the project site and vicinity.



Source: Nevada Bureau of Mines and Geology. 1993. Geologic Maps of Nevada.

3.2 SOILS

The project site is located on the soil mapping unit listed as urban land. This mapping unit has been heavily impacted by excavation and other urban development activities resulting in a loss of identifiable native soil characteristics. However, most of the surrounding area lies over the Las Vegas-Destazo complex, 0 to 2 percent slope. That mapping unit is approximately 60% Las Vegas gravelly fine sandy loam and 25% Destazo fine sandy loam. Within this complex, the soils are arranged in a random pattern on a relic surface and are very difficult to distinguish.

Las Vegas soils are shallow and well drained. These soils were derived in an alluvium dominated by limestone, dolomite, and some lacustrine sediments with a high content of lime. Typically, 25% of the surface is comprised of desert pavement with hardpan fragments and pebbles. An indurated, lime-cemented hardpan is located at about 12 inches deep. Las Vegas soils show moderately slow permeability above the hardpan. Runoff is slow, and the hazard of water erosion is slight due to slope. The hazard of soil blowing is high and the soil is subject to rare periods of flooding during prolonged, high-intensity storms.

The Destazo soil is very deep and well drained. It also was formed in an alluvium derived from limestone, dolomite, and sediments having a high content of lime. Like the Las Vegas soil, about 25% of the surface of this soil is covered with a desert pavement of pebbles and lime nodules. Unlike the Las Vegas soil, the Destazo soil does not have a hardpan. In general, the texture of this soil is a fine sandy loam on the surface 12 inches. Underlying subsoils tend to be very gravelly to extremely gravelly sandy clay loams. At about 62 inches deep, this soil becomes a light brown sandy loam. The Destazo soil is characterized by moderately slow permeability, slow runoff, and a slight hazard of water erosion. Like the Las Vegas soil, the hazard of soil blowing is high.

The main limitation for construction of dwellings on these soils is the hazard of flooding. Dikes and channels with outlets for floodwater can be used to protect buildings from flooding. Frequent irrigation of landscaped areas is often required because of limited available water capacity of the soil. In addition, ornamental plants and grasses that are not sensitive to lime-induced chlorosis should be used for landscaping. Chlorosis can be minimized by annual applications of iron chelates.

On the project site, the entire surface area, with the exception of a small area in the center, is covered by concrete, asphalt parking lots, or gravel. It can be assumed that much of the area under these features is probably comprised of base material overlying native soils. Figure 3-2 shows soil mapping units found on the project site as well as NAFB and surrounding areas.

3.3 CLIMATE

Climate in the Las Vegas Valley area is typical of the desert southwest, having hot summers and mild winters. The growing season averages about 223 days. Precipitation averages approximately 4 inches per year. In general, rainfall is distributed evenly across the year with a very slight wet period from April through September. As in most desert climates, average relative humidity is about 20% by mid afternoon. The sun shines 90% of the time in summer and 80% in winter. Prevailing winds are generally from the southwest and are



highest in the spring with an average of 11 mph. Wind velocities can be relatively high, resulting in blowing dust and sand.



3.4 MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES

The project site is located in a well-developed portion of NAFB, which lies over alluvial deposits. Potential for minerals and energy resources is very low in this area. Therefore, minerals and energy resources will not be impacted by this project.

3.5 VISUAL RESOURCES

The project site is located in an alluvial valley, which affords picturesque views of distant mountain ranges. At the current time, views of natural features in the area are obstructed by man-made structures at NAFB. In addition, the only historic structure found on NAFB is the Thunderbird hangar, which is located several blocks to the east of the project site and is already obstructed by other buildings and facilities.

3.6 CULTURAL RESOURCES

3.6.1 Historic Properties

NAFB has been surveyed for historic buildings and structures. No historic properties eligible for nomination to the Natural Registration of Historic Places were identified. In addition, the Nevada State Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) has concurred that final inventory and evaluation activities on NAFB have been completed. The only property that may be designated as a historic landmark is the Thunderbird hangar located east of the project site. Based on these findings, it is determined that historic properties will not be a concern for this project.

3.6.2 Prehistoric Sites

NAFB has been surveyed for prehistoric and historic archeological resources. No sites eligible for nomination in the National Register have been identified in or adjacent to the project site.

3.6.3 Traditional Cultural Resources

NAFB has been actively cooperating with Native American groups to identify traditional cultural resources, sacred areas, and traditional use areas. NAFB has continued to work with these groups to further identify these resources. However, no known traditional cultural resources, sacred areas, or traditional use areas have been identified on NAFB (U.S. Air Force, 1999).

3.7 WILDERNESS AREAS

No wilderness areas, parks, or wildlife management areas have been designated on or near NAFB.

3.8 WATER RESOURCES

No natural water resources are found within the project site. This includes floodplains, streams, wetlands, and groundwater recharge areas. The closest jurisdictional waters are tributaries that flow into a wash located between the aircraft runways and Sunset Mountain,

which eventually flows into Las Vegas Wash. In addition, no wild and scenic rivers are located in the vicinity of the project site.

3.9 AIR QUALITY

The Clean Air Act (CAA), Title 40 CFR Parts 50 and 51, dictates that the National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS), established by the EPA, must be maintained nationwide. The NAAQS were established to protect the public health and welfare with an adequate margin of safety. The NAAQS include standards for six "criteria" pollutants: ozone (O₃), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), carbon monoxide (CO), "respirable" Particulates (Particulate Matter Less than 10 Microns in Diameter [PM₁₀]), sulfur dioxide (SO₂), and lead (Pb). These standards include short-term standards (1-hour, 8-hour, or 24-hour periods) for pollutants with acute health effects, and long-term standards (annual average) for pollutants with chronic health effects.

Portions of Clark County immediately surrounding Las Vegas and encompassing the project area are designated as a "serious" CO non-attainment area and a "serious" PM₁₀ non-attainment area. The CO problem was changed from "moderate" to "serious" non-attainment in 1996. The CO problem in Clark County is related primarily to automobile traffic, accentuated by regional topography and weather patterns resulting in strong temperature inversions. Roughly 96 percent of the CO in Clark County originates from cars and trucks. Traffic congestion in and around the city center is considered to be the main cause of the high concentration of CO. More than 19 million vehicle miles are traveled each day in the Las Vegas area. Steady population growth is predicted to raise this by at least 1 million miles per day each year. Wood-burning stoves and fireplaces comprise the second largest source of CO in the county (Clark County, 1998).

Additionally, the USEPA has designated a larger area for the boundary for the Las Vegas 8hour ozone nonattainment area. However, the boundary includes is nearly the same as CO/PM₁₀ non-attainment area with respect to NAFB. The remainder of Clark County is designated unclassified/attainment for ozone and includes the adjacent counties. While the nonattainment area is smaller than Clark County, it is still one of the largest nonattainment areas in the country.

Visibility is another issue associated with air quality. NAFB is located in the Las Vegas Valley where visibility is continually hampered by air pollutants, especially dust and vehicle emissions. These materials and gases are often trapped in the valley area and become concentrated to the point where visibility is significantly decreased or the color of the air is significantly changed.

3.10 NOISE

Noise is definitely a problematic issue at NAFB, mostly due to noise originating from incoming and outgoing aircraft. NAFB has supported operations of nearly every type of aircraft in the DOD inventory. It has served as a home station for a variety of attack and fighter aircraft as well as helicopters. The base has also supported a wide range of transient aircraft participating in major exercises in the NTTR. Through its more than 58 years of operation, the mix of based and transient aircraft using NAFB has varied, and the shape and extent of areas affected by noise has varied accordingly.

At NAFB, the main source of noise is arriving and departing aircraft. In general, most noise levels are in the moderate range with the exception of relatively high levels recorded at the airstrip. Beyond the boundaries of NAFB, noise levels are considered quiet to moderate. A detailed discussion of aircraft noise and measurements in the vicinity of NAFB is provided in Air Force, 1999. Because of the level of development around NAFB, noise is more of a problem for humans living in the vicinity of NAFB versus natural resources in the vicinity. Other sources of noise at NAFB include explosions originating from the detonation of unexploded ordnances and quarrying activities in Area II.

Published studies (Plotkin, et al., 1981, 1992) have characterized the noise conditions for the base and surrounding area in 1981 and 1992. Thus, the highest levels of noise are centered on the flight lines, with noise levels decreasing for sites or receptors located remote from the flight line. The 1981 and 1992 studies modeled 460 and 614 airfield In 1997, a noise study for NAFB was conducted to operations, respectively (USAF, 1999). reflect the aircraft mix and use patterns at that time. The study included 80 airfield operations by based aircraft and 250 airfield operations by transient aircraft to represent an average busy day. Figure 3-3 is an illustration of the noise zones located at the project site and around the buildings to be demolished according to the 1997 study. According to this figure, the CCSF lies in an area that experiences between 75 and 80 maximum level decibel quantity. With the exception of back-up warning signals, most other noise sources relative to construction and operation on this area would not exceed these levels. Buildings 589, 595, and 839 all lie in an area experiencing a maximum level decibel guantity of 70. In general, the CCSF and Buildings 589, 595, and 839 all experience noise levels above those under normal conditions.

3.11 LAND USE

3.11.1 CCSF

The CCSF will be constructed on a site that is currently being used for parking and picnicking. The only structures located on the site are two picnic shelters located in the central portion of the property. Most of the remainder of the site is either covered in asphalt or gravel. Portions of the site contain gravel landscaping with cactus and other vegetation. Several small shade trees are located along a sidewalk on the south side of the property, and two large trees are located in the central portion of the property. These trees have been planted in an area that is covered in sod grass.

The properties surrounding the CCSF site are all used by the Air Force for various purposes. In most cases, the CCSF property is buffered from other facilities by parking lots, gravelcovered areas, or roads. The only buildings located adjacent to the property are Building 899, 890, 94, and 45. These buildings are either used for dormitories, office buildings, or storage facilities. This is easily observed in Figure 3-4, which is a drawing of the project area and adjacent properties. Photographs 4-8 in Appendix B show different views of the site. Land use on properties adjacent to the project area includes a groundwater treatment facility located east of the project area, a dormitory located northwest of the project area, and a storage area and fueling facility located to the north.



Figure 3-3. Noise zones located at the project site as determined by studies conducted for the F/A environmental impact statement in 1999. (USAF, 1999)



Communications Squadron Facility at NAFB.

3.11.2 Building 595 and 589

Buildings 595 and 589 are located in a block bounded by Washington Avenue to the west, Swaab Boulevard to the north, Carswell Avenue to the east, and Devlin Drive to the south (Figure 3-5). Also located on this block are Buildings 588, 586, and 610. Interspersed between the buildings are parking lots and some vegetated areas. Land use on the project sites is restricted to commercial buildings and parking.

All land uses surrounding the project area are related to Air Force activities. Immediately to the east is the Air Warfare Center, which basically houses offices and other facilities. To the northeast are some residential areas, and to the north is the Officers Club, which includes parking lots, tennis courts, and other recreational facilities. Northeast of the project area is the Mount Vernon dining facility with other office buildings located immediately to the east. South of the project area is the Base Exchange, the Enlisted Club, the theatre, bowling center, and Burger King. In general, the site is surrounded by Air Force facilities equivalent to commercial use.



Figure 3-5. Drawing showing the land use around Buildings 595 and 589.

3.11.3 Building 839

Building 839 is located at the intersection of Ellsworth Avenue and Depot Road. The facilities are predominantly used for commercial purposes, and include office buildings, parking lots, and an auto hobby shop. Adjacent land uses are also commercial Air Force uses, including a large storage area and the engineering center, which is located south of Building 839, across Depot Road. West of Building 839 is an open field, and northwest is a

standard oil company tank farm. Figure 3-6 is a drawing showing major facilities and land uses in and around Building 839.



Figure 3-6. Drawing showing land use around Building 839.

3.12 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

3.12.1 Vegetation

Approximately 5% of the parcel selected for the CCSF supports vegetation. Vegetation is restricted to ornamental woody plants and turf grasses, including Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*) and creeping red fescue (*Festuca rubra*). The remainder of the site does not support vegetation, with the exception of a few cacti grown in gravel gardens. All of the plants are ornamental species that can either be destroyed or excavated and moved to another site during construction.

Similarly, Building 595 and 589 are located in areas that are mostly covered with asphalt and/or gravel. Some areas immediately adjacent to the buildings support small expanses of turf grass and ornamental plants. Building 839 is surrounded by gravel and asphalt parking lots. A few ornamental woody plants and cacti have been planted immediately adjacent to

the building. Overall, the vegetation at Building 839 restricted to ornamental native species and is established along the outside edge of the building.

3.12.2 Wildlife

All portions of the project area are located in well-developed sections of NAFB. Very little wildlife food or habitat is available in the immediate area of these buildings and lots. Most of the mammals are restricted to small rodents, and possibly incidental occurrences of larger, gregarious mammals traversing the sites. Currently, the area is used by some of the more gregarious species of birds, such as house sparrows, common grackles, and mourning dove.

3.12.3 Endangered and Threatened Species

Because the project area is located in a developed, commercial area, it is highly unlikely that any endangered species have become established on the project area. Field observations confirm this assumption. Although the site lies in the range of the desert tortoise and the Las Vegas bear poppy, habitat capable of supporting these species is not present on any of the sites.

NAFB lies in the low elevation Creosote/White Bursage community, which is characteristic of the Mojave Desert and appears to support several different species of bats (USAF, 1997b). Some species of bats could conceivably inhabit cracks and crevices of the roofs and walls of Buildings 595, 589, and 839. Although no evidence of bats was observed, the buildings should be inspected prior to demolition to ensure that bats are not nesting in the structures at the time of demolition.

3.13 AIRSPACE

The proposed site for the CCSF, as well as the sites where demolition will occur, is located west of air space commonly used by incoming and outgoing aircraft.

3.14 SAFETY

All operations at NAFB are conducted with strict adherence to safety features. The project areas are located away from flight lines and should in no way impact the safety of incoming and outgoing aircraft or any flight line activities.

3.15 SOCIOECONOMICS

Clark County is the most heavily populated area in Nevada and is considered the fastestgrowing metropolitan county in the U.S. (U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, 1997). As of July, 1996, the population of Clark County was estimated to be 1.12 million (Clark County, 1996). The fast growth of Clark County has resulted in a corresponding increase in a demand for quality housing in the region. In the time from 1970 to 1990, housing increased 241%, while the demand for housing increased only 227%, which indicated a housing surplus (U.S. Bureau of the Census).

According to the 2000 census, the city of North Las Vegas posted a population of 115,488, of which 55.93% was white, 37.61% Hispanic, and 19% African-American (areaConnect, 2004). In contrast, the population of Clark County in the year 2000 was 1.376 million
(Epodunk, 2004). While the average age of inhabitants of North Las Vegas was 28.8, approximately 54.6% of the population of Clark County lies in the age range from 25-64. Also, in Clark County, whites comprise 71.6% of the population, while African-Americans comprise 9.1%, and Hispanics, 22%. By the year 2000, total housing units were 559,799, which showed a considerable increase over the past. Housing costs have been increasing significantly over the past years, resulting in a median price of approximately \$143,900 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2000).

3.16 ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

On February 11, 1994, President Clinton issued EO 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority and Low-income Populations. The purpose of the order is to avoid the disproportionate placement of adverse environmental, economic, social, or health impacts from federal actions and policies on minority and low-income populations. The first step in the process is to identify minority and low-income populations that might be affected by implementation of the proposed action or no action alternative. It is the critical step in addressing environmental justice.

The proposed action for this EA is located in the developed portion of NAFB and will not impact any low income or minority populations.

3.17 UTILITIES

Information on the existing utility systems at NAFB was derived from a brief description of those utilities provided in NAFB (2002). The electrical distribution system at NAFB is supplied from a base-owned substation, which is supplied from a single 69-kV Nevada Power Company incoming primary feed (Headquarters Air Combat Command, 2001). Ultimately, all power is drawn from the Hoover Dam power grid. The base substation is located adjacent to the north gate. The power is distributed throughout the base via 545,000 linear feet (LF) of overhead cables, and 441,000 LF of underground cables. According to Headquarters Air Combat Command (1998), NAFB has met the criteria established by the Air Force as being "PCB-free." However, equipment containing PCBs may be present within the installation.

The electrical distribution system for the CCSF currently exists as an overhead cable along the east side of the property. One transformer is located in that area. Additionally, Buildings 839, 589, and 595 all receive their power via overhead cabling. During demolition of the buildings, care should be taken to ensure that any transformers removed from the site do not contain PCBs. More than likely, overhead cabling will be replaced with underground cabling for any new construction and for construction of the CCSF.

NAFB obtains its potable water supply from nine water wells located on the base, as well as from the Southern Nevada Water Authority. A small amount of water is also purchased from the city of North Las Vegas. Water is stored on base in eight water storage tanks and is distributed via transmission lines throughout the base.

Wastewater from NAFB is discharged into the Clark County sanitation district for treatment at their wastewater treatment plant. The wastewater system on base includes 382,000 LF of gravity sewer mains and twelve sewage pumping stations. On the average, the base discharges approximately 1.5 mgd of wastewater. Domestic wastewater accounts for 90-95% of discharge from the base.

NAFB receives its natural gas via the Southwest Gas Company through a high-pressure gas transmission line located along Las Vegas Boulevard North. The gas distribution system on base has approximately 20 miles of gas mains and lateral lines. This distribution system is owned an operated by NAFB.

3.18 HAZARDOUS MATERIALS AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL CONCERN

3.18.1 Hazardous and Petroleum Materials and Wastes

NAFB Plan 19-1, Facility Response Plan incorporates emergency response requirements of the Clean Water Act, Clean Air Act, and RCRA into a single document. The plan describes emergency response guidance as mandated by the Occupation Safety and Health Administration as well as spill prevention, control, and countermeasures procedures currently implemented at NAFB. None of the facilities involved in this proposed action contain significant quantities of hazardous materials. However, some of the buildings in adjacent properties are used for storage of petroleum products and hazardous materials or wastes.

Procedures for the management of hazardous waste generated at NAFB are fully described in the NAFB Plan 12, Hazardous Waste Management Plan (NAFB, 2000). As part of the plan, hazardous waste is collected at initial accumulation points throughout the base and transferred to a 90-day central accumulation site in Building 853. Within 90 days, a permitted waste contractor determines the appropriate treatment and disposal options for the materials and arranges for a licensed transporter to pick up the waste and transport it to a disposal site.

Petroleum products typically stored at NAFB include motor fuels, solvents, and hydraulic fluid. The project site for the CCSF is currently vacant and is not currently used for storage or use of petroleum products. In addition, Buildings 839, 589, and 595 are currently used for information technology, which typically does not entail use of significant quantities of petroleum products. Minor quantities of solvents and lubricants might be found on these sites.

3.18.2 Storage Tanks

The new CCSF site, as well as Buildings 839, 589, 595, does not currently contain aboveground or below-ground storage tanks. However, some of the adjacent properties use storage tanks for vehicle fuels. A vehicle fueling station is located northeast of the new CCSF project site. In addition, the groundwater treatment system is located immediately east of the project site.

3.18.3 Pesticides

The pest management program at NAFB integrates pest surveillance with control methodologies and is documented in the pest management plan for NAFB (NAFB, 2000). At NAFB, pest management is the responsibility of the pest management section personnel. Pesticides are applied according to pesticide label directions. The pest management section maintains and monitors records of buildings, including chemicals issued by the facility's improvement center, which dispenses pest control supplies to residents. Because the new site for CCSF is a vacant lot, pesticide impacts are probably restricted to application of herbicides and fertilizers for the small area of landscaping located on the property.

Similarly, Buildings 839, 589, and 595 probably experience only routine application of pesticides for control of pests common in the area. Because of the nature of the operations conducted in the buildings, it is doubtful that any large quantities of pesticides are stored or used in those areas.

3.18.4 Solid Waste

None of the sites included in the proposed action store, treat, or dispose of solid waste on site. Solid waste should not be an issue at any of these facilities with respect to the impact of the proposed action.

3.18.5 Asbestos

Asbestos is not an issue on the new site selected for the CCSF. This is due to the fact that no standing structure is present on the site at this time. However, asbestos-containing materials (ACMs) may be present in Buildings 839, 589, and 595, due to their age. These buildings should be inspected for ACMs prior to demolition.

3.18.6 Polychlorinated Biphenyls

As previously discussed, NAFB is currently under a PCB-free program. Thus, any new transformers, etc., are probably PCB-free. Some of the older buildings may contain transformers with PCBs. PCBs may also be present in the ballasts of older light fixtures. Any old hydraulic equipment, light ballasts, and/or transformers should be inspected to determine if they contain PCBs. If so, these should be properly disposed of, and the area around the equipment should be sampled for PCBs that may have leaked from the equipment in the past.

3.18.7 Radon

Radon is a naturally occurring, colorless, and odorless radioactive gas that is produced by the radioactive decay of naturally occurring uranium. Uranium decays to radium and then radon. Radon that is present in soil can enter a building through small spaces and openings and can accumulate in enclosed areas such as basements.

Air Force policy requires implementation of the Air Force radon assessment and mitigation program to determine levels of radon exposure to military personnel and their dependents. This program is restricted to residential structures and schools. Problems with radon have been detected in some residences on NAFB and could occur in some of the buildings. However, this project involves demolition of buildings and construction of new buildings, which will probably not result in radon being an issue.

3.18.8 Lead-Based Paint

Human exposure to lead has been determined to be an adverse health risk by both OSHA and the U.S. EPA. Common sources of exposure to lead include dust, soils, and paint. The Department of Defense implemented a ban of lead-based paint use in 1978; however, it is possible that facilities constructed prior to or during 1978 may contain lead-based paints. Although lead-based paints are not a problem on the new CCSF site, they are a potential problem for Buildings 839, 589, 595. Because these buildings are to be demolished, the

presence of lead-based paints should not be a problem unless materials are to be recycled and used in other construction projects.

4.0 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES

4.1 GEOLOGY AND PHYSIOGRAPHY

4.1.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative should have no direct impacts to outcrops and geologic formations, geologic faults, or topography. Because the site is located in Seismic Zone 2B, only moderate damage to buildings would be expected. However, Buildings 589, 595, and 839 are old, considered somewhat structurally unstable and were not built to withstand seismic activity. Because this alternative would continue use of these buildings, there is a higher potential for significant damage by an earthquake causing a major impact to base communications.

4.1.2 Proposed Action

Minor impacts to the upper geologic layer would be expected due to shallow excavation activities and some drilling and placement of piers for building structures. However, the outcrop at the project site is an alluvial deposit, which would be extremely resistant to excavation and drilling. Although the proposed action will involve excavation and drilling, the area will be brought back to near-original contours, and no impact to topography is anticipated. Buildings 589, 595, and 839, which are potentially susceptible to earthquakes, would be demolished by this action, and new buildings structurally designed to withstand earthquakes would be constructed.

4.2 SOILS

4.2.1 No Action Alternative

With the no action alternative, soils will remain in tact, resulting in no impacts to plant growth and vegetative cover. Soils will remain protected by gravel and vegetation, minimizing the potential for wind erosion. Additionally, no water erosion is expected from this action due the presence of vegetative or gravel cover and the flat topography.

4.2.2 Proposed Action

Considerable disturbance and removal of the soil surface will occur during construction and demolition. This will remove many of the plants currently growing on the soil surface. Removal of soils will also result in impacts to the re-establishment of vegetation due to the fact that an undisturbed soil profile will no longer be present. The impacts could be positive if the soil has previously been impacted or the soil surface is compacted. Regardless, impacts would be minimized if topsoil is stockpiled separately and returned to the soil surface after construction is completed. During the construction phase of the project, exposure of soils to wind and stormwater runoff can result in some soil loss. This will be minimized by adherence to Best Management Practices (AFI 32-7080 Pollution Prevention Program) required by the USAF and for construction projects in the state of Nevada.

4.3 CLIMATE

4.3.1 No Action Alternative

No impacts to climate are anticipated.

4.3.2 Proposed Action

Because of the small size of this project, no impacts to climate are anticipated. However, some changes in microclimates due to shading by the building could result in an improvement in habitat diversity.

4.4 MINERAL AND ENERGY RESOURCES

4.4.1 No Action Alternative

Because no mineral or energy resources have been discovered on NAFB, no impacts to those resources are anticipated.

4.4.2 Proposed Action

Because no mineral or energy resources have been discovered on NAFB, no impacts to those resources are anticipated.

4.5 VISUAL RESOURCES

4.5.1 No Action Alternative

This action results in no new buildings being constructed on the currently vacant parcel to be used for the CCSF. Thus, residents of the dormitory and office buildings will continue to have an unobstructed view of mountains to the east and west of NAFB. Some obstruction of the viewscape is occurring at this time, but the presence of an empty parcel improves viewscapes significantly. Viewscapes from areas adjacent to Buildings 589, 595, and 839 will continue to be obstructed by those buildings.

The vacant parcel will remain in place with some vegetation, but in general will provide very few visual aesthetics. Buildings 839, 589, and 595 will remain in place in the no action alternative. These buildings are in disrepair and becoming somewhat unattractive causing a negative impact on visual aesthetics for the base.

4.5.2 Proposed Action

Viewscapes from the buildings and dorms adjacent to the site of the proposed action will be obstructed by construction of the new CCSF. In some cases, surrounding mountains and other landscapes will no longer be visible. Viewscapes for buildings adjacent to at Buildings 595, 589, and 839 will probably remain unchanged, due to the fact that following demolition, new buildings will be probably be constructed.

The CCSF will be designed in a manner to match the architectural landscape of NAFB. In addition, the current landscape plan for NAFB dictates that new construction must be landscaped with native plants. Both of these changes associated with the proposed action

should result in an improvement in the aesthetics of this site. Additionally, demolition of Buildings 839, 589, and 595 will result in an overall improvement of the visual aesthetics of those areas of the base. Those buildings will probably be replaced by improved landscaping and architectural design.

4.6 CULTURAL RESOURCES

4.6.1 No Action Alternative

With the exception of the Thunderbird Hangar, no historic properties have been designated on NAFB, and no impacts are anticipated. Additionally, no prehistoric sites and no known traditional cultural resources, sacred areas, or traditional areas have been identified on NAFB. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.

4.6.2 Proposed Action

With the exception of the Thunderbird Hangar, no historic properties have been designated on NAFB, and no impacts are anticipated. Additionally, no prehistoric sites and no known traditional cultural resources, sacred areas, or traditional use areas have been identified on NAFB. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.

4.7 WILDERNESS AREAS

4.7.1 No Action Alternative

No wilderness areas, state or national parks, or wildlife management areas have been designated in or near NAFB, and no impacts are anticipated.

4.7.2 Proposed Action

No wilderness areas, state or national parks, or wildlife management areas have been designated in or near NAFB, and no impacts are anticipated.

4.8 WATER RESOURCES

4.8.1 No Action Alternative

The project sites do not lie in floodplains, and no changes in runoff characteristics should impact floodplains. Additionally, the no action alternative is not expected to impact streams, wetlands, or groundwater.

4.8.2 Proposed Action

The proposed action does not lie in a 100-year floodplain. In addition, drainage characteristics of the land surface will not be significantly impacted by construction of CCSF or demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 835, which will result in no changes in the volume of stormwater originating from these areas and eventually flowing into tributaries of the Las Vegas Wash. Wetlands and streams are not located in or near the proposed action are not expected to be impacted directly or indirectly by the action. The site does not lie over a recharge zone and construction does not entail extensive drilling or deep excavation. Therefore impacts to groundwater are not anticipated.

4.9 AIR QUALITY

4.9.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative is not expected to impact the quality of air at NAFB.

4.9.2 Proposed Action

Construction and excavation activities on the CCSF site will probably result in short-term elevation of particulate matter in the air in the immediate vicinity of construction. In addition, demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 also has the potential to cause short-term elevation in particulate matter if mitigative measures are not taken. The source of particulate matter will be blowing dust and some carbon originating from diesel engines. The emissions of PM10 were calculated using the Department of Air Quality Management default emission factor of 1.66 lbs/acre-day and a total area of 7.26 acres. This calculation assumes the worst case scenario of all four sites having soils exposed during a year period. The calculation of PM10 for the proposed action is as follows:

PM10 (tons/year)= (1.66 lbs/acre-day)*(365 days/year)*(7.26 acres)*(1 ton/2000 lbs) = 2.2 tons/year

Use of construction equipment for demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839, as well as construction on the CCSF site may cause localized, minor increases in carbon monoxide on the short term.

The boiler to be used in the CCSF is estimated to be no larger than 1.26 MM BTU. The boiler would require an ATC permit before operation and a Lo-NOx burner on the boiler would be necessary. Table 4-1 shows a comparison of the emissions predicted for the CCSF and demolition of buildings 595, 589, and 839, de minimus quantities, 2004 total emissions of NAFB, and the total allowable emissions being proposed for the new Title V permit for NAFB.

Table 4-1. Comparison of the emissions predicted for the CCSF and demolition of buildings 595, 589, and 839, de minimus quantities, 2004 total emissions of NAFB, and the total allowable emissions being proposed for the new Title V permit for NAFB.

Source	NO _x (tons/yr)	CO (tons/yr)	PM ₁₀ (tons/yr)	VOC (tons/yr)
Demolition/Construction	0	0	2.2	0
Boiler	0.54	0.45	0.04	0.03
Total for Proposed Action	0.54	0.45	2.24	0.03
De minimus	2.0	2.0	1.0	2.0
Max Allowable under Title V	50.0	70.0	70.0	50.0
2004 Total NAFB Emissions	34.0	18.0	36.0	27.0

At NAFB, de minimus quantities would not apply since the activities are occurring on Nellis property, would fall under the Title V permit, and would be a contributor to the cumulative total emissions of the base. As shown in Table 4-1, the emissions released by the Proposed Action are not going to contribute significantly to the cumulative total of emissions for the Base and will not cause NAFB to exceed Title V permit emission quantities. The Title V permit is currently being submitted to the state and includes the allowable total emissions for the Base. Emissions will also be minimized by strict adherence to AFI 32-7040 (Air Quality Compliance),

4.10 NOISE

4.10.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative is not expected to impact the noise levels at NAFB.

4.10.2 Proposed Action

Operation of the new CCSF does not entail noise-producing actions. Therefore, no impacts to noise levels are anticipated. Although the fate of the parcels currently supporting Buildings 595, 589, and 839 is not known at this time, it is doubtful that those actions will be noise-producing. On the short-term, construction and demolition activities are noise-producing actions. However, these actions will rarely produce noise levels higher than the ambient levels currently impacting the site from aircraft and other sources.

4.11 LAND USE

4.11.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative will not impact land use on the project sites or on properties adjacent to the project sites.

4.11.2 Proposed Action

Construction of the CCSF will result in a change in the use of the property site from a parking lot and outside gathering area to a commercial office building surrounded by natural landscaping. Within the context of the surrounding areas, this impact is minor, since adjacent properties are in commercial or industrial use. The demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 will probably not result in a change in the land use of those properties, unless they are left as vacant lots. In conclusion the proposed action will not significantly change land uses in the area of the project.

4.12 BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES

4.12.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative will not have an impact on vegetation, wildlife, or endangered species.

4.12.2 Proposed Action

Construction and excavation at the CCSF site will result in temporary removal of established vegetation. Most of the vegetation on the site is comprised of landscape ornamental plants and no natural plant populations are present. However, the removed vegetation will probably be replaced by landscaped areas surrounding the CCSF. The current vegetation is landscaped and no change in the type of vegetation is anticipated. The new landscaping will be native plant species in compliance with the landscape management plan for the base. Demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 will result in some removal of vegetation in those areas. However, vegetation is not a significant component of those areas at this time, and impacts would be

considered temporary and minimal. New landscaping may be an improvement compared to the present conditions.

Some temporary displacement of wildlife would be expected due to the construction of the CCSF and the demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839. However, most of the wildlife associated with these areas are transient birds and would probably move to adjacent properties until construction was completed. Bats may be nesting in cracks and crevices of Buildings 839, 595, and 589. Buildings should be inspected prior to demolition to ensure that bats are either not present or will be removed if present. In general, impacts to wildlife would be considered minor.

Endangered and threatened species currently do not inhabit any of the project areas, and therefore would not be impacted by this action.

4.13 AIRSPACE

4.13.1 No Action Alternative

The no action alternative will not have an impact on airspace.

4.13.2 Proposed Action

The proposed action does not involve construction of any structures that could infringe on airspace, therefore, not impacts to airspace are anticipated.

4.14 SAFETY

4.14.1 No Action Alternative

No impacts to safety are anticipated at the CCSF site. However, Buildings 595, 589, and 839 are currently considered old and unsafe. Continued use of these buildings could result in the establishment of unsafe conditions and possible injury to residents or users.

4.14.2 Proposed Action

No impacts to safety are anticipated by the proposed action. Construction activities could result in some changes in automobile traffic patterns and impose potential unsafe conditions if proper procedures are not followed. However, under current policies for construction and demolition, safety on-and off-site should not be impacted. Demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 would result in the removal of buildings now presenting unsafe conditions resulting in positive impact on safety.

4.15 SOCIOECONOMICS

4.15.1 No Action Alternative

No impacts to long- or short-term socioeconomic conditions in the area are anticipated to be caused by the no action alternative.

4.15.2 Proposed Action

On the short term, the proposed action would provide job opportunities for both non-professional and professional contractors and subcontractors. Additionally, long-term operation of the CCSF, as well as new facilities that may replace Buildings 595, 589, and 839, could result in additional professional and technical level jobs for civilian and military personnel. Thus, positive impacts on socioeconomics would be anticipated.

4.16 ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

4.16.1 No Action Alternative

No impacts concerning environmental justice are anticipated as a result of the no action alternative.

4.16.2 Proposed Action

No impacts concerning environmental justice are anticipated as a result of the proposed action.

4.17 UTILITIES

4.17.1 No Action Alternative

No impacts to electric utilities, water, wastewater or natural gas use is expected as a result of the no action alternative.

4.17.2 Proposed Action

The new CCSF facility, as well as the buildings constructed at the current location of Buildings 595, 589, and 839, would probably require greater levels of electricity than currently being used due to use of more electronic equipment and temperature control required for maintenance of the equipment. This could be considered a positive impact, due to the additional income to the local community. Natural gas usage may be slightly increased, but this would not be considered significant. Proposed use of the CCSF does not involve significant use of natural gas.

None of the operations currently intended for the CCSF and for Buildings 595, 589, and 839 are anticipated to use significant quantities of water. Therefore, impacts to water usage are considered minimal. Wastewater discharge from NAFB should not be significantly increased by the proposed action because the number of additional people employed at the new facility will not be significant in terms of wastewater production.

4.18 HAZARDOUS WASTE AND ITEMS OF SPECIAL CONCERN

4.18.1 No Action Alternative

Hazardous and Petroleum Materials and Wastes. The no action alternative should have no impacts to the current production or storage of hazardous materials and wastes.

Storage Tanks. No impacts to storage tanks are anticipated.

Pesticides. No impacts to pesticide use are anticipated.

Solid Waste. No impacts to solid waste production are anticipated.

Asbestos. Continued degradation of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 could result in the release of friable asbestos-containing materials, which would present an impact to users of those buildings.

Polychlorinated Biphenyls. No impacts or releases of polychlorinated biphenyls are anticipated as a result of the no action alternative.

Radon. Buildings 595, 589, and 839 could potentially have significant levels of radon. However, this is usually only considered a problem in residential buildings. Potential exposure of this material to building occupants is possible.

Lead-based Paints. No impacts from lead-based paints would be anticipated, due to the fact that these buildings are not currently used for residential or educational purposes. However, because of the age of the buildings, they probably contain some lead-based paint surfaces which can present problems if the use of the building is changed to a use where lead paint exposure is regulated.

4.18.2 Proposed Action

Hazardous and Petroleum Materials and Wastes. The proposed use for the CCSF does not involve the production or storage of significant quantities of hazardous or petroleum materials and wastes. All hazardous materials at the new facility will be stored or handled according to the NAFB Hazardous Material Management Plan 12 (AFI- 32-7040 HAZMAT Management) and Facility Emergency Response Plan 19-1 (AFI 32-4002 Hazardous Materials Response).

Storage Tanks. The proposed action does not involve construction, demolition or use of above ground or underground storage tanks. Therefore, no impacts are anticipated.

Pesticides. The operation of the CCSF is not expected to result in a significant change in the use of pesticides at NAFB. In addition, any pest control used for the building will comply with the NAFB Pest Management Plan and AFI 32-1052 (Pest Management Program). Therefore, no impacts to pest management or pesticide use are anticipated.

Solid Waste. A short-term increase in solid waste production would be expected during the demolition phase of Buildings 595, 589, and 839. Some increase in solid waste would also be anticipated during the construction of the CCSF. However, on the long term, no impacts to solid waste production would be anticipated.

Asbestos. Demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 may result in exposure of workers to asbestos. However, with proper mitigative actions, this would be minimal and considered no impact. However, by adhering to AFI 32-1052, *Facility Asbestos Management*, exposure would be minimal."

Polychlorinated Biphenyls. Although there is potential for equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls to be present in Buildings 595, 589, and 839, proper handling of that equipment would not result in the release of those materials. Therefore, this would be considered no impact.

Radon. Construction of new facilities associated with the proposed action would not be expected to contain significant levels of radon. Thus, this would not be considered an impact.

Lead-based Paints. Demolition of Buildings 595, 589, and 839 could result in the release of lead-based paint into soil and dust. This can be reduced by mitigative measures. However, future use of the properties will not involve residential or child-care facilities. Therefore, impacts are not anticipated.

5.0 CUMULATIVE EFFECTS AND IRREVERSIBLE AND IRRETRIEVABLE COMMITMENT OF RESOURCES

5.1 CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

Cumulative impacts are impacts on the environment that result from incremental impacts that occurred in the past, present or reasonable foreseeable future. Cumulative impacts may also include similar impacts occurring in a location that is relatively close to the project area. An impact may be insignificant or small individually, but may be significant when added to several other similar or related impacts.

The proposed action and no action alternative pose minimal impacts on the environment. Even when these impacts are considered in a cumulative respect, it is doubtful that they would be significant. Thus, it can be concluded that both the proposed action and the no action alternative will not result in significant cumulative impacts to the environment.

5.2 UNAVOIDABLE ADVERSE IMPACTS

No unavoidable adverse impacts are expected from the implementation of the proposed action or the no action alternative.

5.3 IRREVERSIBLE AND IRRETRIEVABLE COMMITMENT OF RESOURCES

An irreversible and irretrievable commitment of resources is those commitments that cannot be reversed over a long period of time or result in the loss of production or use of a renewable resource. The proposed action and the no action alternative will not result in an irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources.

5.4 RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SHORT-TERM USES OF THE HUMAN ENVIRONMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF LONG-TERM PRODUCTIVITY

Actions that improve the overall health and conditions of the environment result in an improvement in the long-term productivity of the natural resources. Although some negative impacts will be realized by the environment relative to the proposed action, the overall result on a long-term basis will be positive for the growth and productivity of NAFB, as well as for the maintenance of national security for the United States. These facilities will allow for a more efficient and productive operation for training and testing aircraft for the U.S. military.

6.0 REFERENCES

6.1 REGULATIONS, LAWS, ORDERS

- 40 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 52-99. 1996. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA); "Subchapter C-Air Programs," In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- . 100-149. 1995. EPA; "Subchapter D-Water Programs." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- 141-149. 1997. EPA; "National Drinking Water Regulations and Underground Injection Control Program." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- . 162-180. 1995. EPA; "Subchapter E-Pesticide Programs." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- 201-211. 1986. EPA; "Subchapter G-Noise Abatement Programs." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- 240-280. 1997. EPA; "Subchapter I-Solid Wastes." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- _____. 300-399. 1997. EPA; "Subchapter J-Superfund, Emergency Planning, and Community Right-to-Know Programs." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- _____. 401-471. 1995. EPA; "Subchapter N-Effluent Guidelines and Standards." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- ______. 1500 through 1508. 1993. Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ); "Regulations for Implementing the National Environmental Policy Act." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

43 CFR 2300. 1981. U.S. Department of the Interior (DOI); "Land Withdrawals." In Code of Federal Regulations, Office of the Federal Register, National Archives and Records Administration, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.

Air force Instruction (AFI) 32-7061, The Environmental Impact Analysis Process.

- AFI 32-4002, Hazardous Materials Response
- AFI 32-1053, Pest Management Program
- AFI 32-1052, Facility Asbestos Management
- AFI 32-7080, Pollution Prevention Program
- AFI 32-7086, HAZMAT Management
- AFI 32-7040, Air Quality Compliance
- Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) of 1980, 42 United States Code (USC) 9601, enacted by Public Law (PL) 65-510, also known as Superfund: Amended in 1986 by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act, PL 99-499.
- Executive Order (EO) 11593. 1971. Protection and Enhancement of the Cultural Environment, Office of the President, Washington, DC.
- _____. 11988. 1997. Floodplain Management. Office of the President, Washington, DC.
- _____.12898. 1994. Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations. Office of the President, Washington, DC.
- _____. 13007. 1996. Indian Sacred Sites. Office of the President, Washington, DC.
- _____. 13045. 1997. Protection of Children from Environmental Health Risks and Safety Risks. Office of the President, Washington, DC.
- Public Law (PL) 85-654. 1958. Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act.
- ____. 86-797. 1960. Sikes Act.
- _____. 89-665. 1966. National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA).
- _____. 91-604. 1990. Amendments to the Clean Air Act (CAA) (PL 95-95).
- _____. 92-500. 1972. Federal Water Pollution Control Act (FWPCA).
- _____. 92-574. 1972. Noise Control Act.
- _____. 92-205. 1973. Endangered Species Act.

Consolidated Communications Squadron Facility Final EA

- _____. 94-579. Federal Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA) of 1976, 43 USC 1701-1784.
- _____. 94-5800. 1976. Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA).
- _____. 95-95. 1970. Clean Air Act (CAA).
- . 95-609. 1978. Amendments to the Noise Control Act (PL 92-574).
- _____. 95-217. 1977. Clean Water Act (CWA), amendment to PL 92-500.
- _____. 95-341. 1978. American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA).
- _____. 95-523. 1972. Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA).
- . 96-95. 1979. Archaeological Resources Protection Act (ARPA).
- _____. 96-515. 1980. Amendments to the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) (PL 89-665).
- _____. 97-79. 1981. Amendments to the Lacey Act.
- _____. 99-339. 1986. Amendments to the Safe Drinking Water Act.
- _____. 99-561. 1986. Amendments to the Sikes Act.
- _____. 99-645. 1986. Emergency Wetlands Resources Act.
- _____. 100-4. 1987. Water Quality Act.
- _____. 100-478. 1988. Amendments to the Endangered Species Act (PL 89-665).
- _____. 100-582. 1986. Amendments to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act.
- _____. 101-233. 1989. North American Wetlands Conservation Act.
- _____. 101-601. 1990. Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act (NAGPRA).
- _____. 102-575. 1992. Amendments to the National Historic Preservation Act (PL 89-665).
- _____. 105-85, Title XXIX. Sikes Act Improvement Act of 1977 as amended in 1997.
- _____. 105-263. 1998. Southern Nevada Public Land Management Act.
- National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) of 1969, 42 USC 4321-4347, enacted by PL 91-190, as amended.

6.2 GENERAL

- area Connect. 2004. area Connect LLC. Information received via internet at http://northlasvegas.areaconnect.com/statistics.htm.
- Clark County. 1996. Clark County DemograFacts. Clark County Department of Comprehensive Planning. Las Vegas, Nevada.
- Department of Air Quality Management. 2003. Clark County Air Monitoring 2002 NAMS/SLAMS Network Review June 30, 2003
- Epodunk. 2004. Epodunk, Inc. found at http://www.epodunk.com.
- Headquarters Air Combat Command. 2001. Infrastructure Assessment, Nellis AFB/Indian Springs AFAF. HQ ACC Civil Engineer Operations Division, Infrastructure Operations Branch, 2 January-1 February.

_____. 1998. Electronic Mail from Colonel Michael Patrick (ACC/CEV) regarding the "PCB-free" status of ACC installations. 23 December.

NAFB. 2000. Nellis Air Force Base Plan 12, Hazardous Waste Management Plan, November.

_____. 2000. Pest Management Plan for Nellis Air Force Base, Las Vegas, Nevada, Plan Period: January 2001-January 2002.

- Nellis Air Force Base (NAFB). 2002. Environmental Baseline Study for Dunning Circle Housing Area. Nellis Air Force Base, Nevada.
- Plotkin, K.J., V.R. Desai, C.L. Moulton, M.J. Lucas, and R. Brown. 1989. Measurements of Sonic Booms due to ACM Training at White Sands Missile Range. Wyle Research Report WR 89-18.
- Plotkin, K.J., C.L. Moulton, V.R. Desai, and M.J. Lucas. 1992. Sonic Boom Environment under a Super Sonic Military Operations Area. Journal of Aircraft 29(6): 1069-1072.
- Spec, RL. 1985. Soil Survey of Las Vegas Valley Area, Nevada, Part of Clark County. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resource Conservation Service.
- U.S. Air Force. 1999. F-22 Aircraft Force Development Evaluation and Weapons School Bed-Down, Nellis AFB, Final Environmental Impact Statement, October.
- U.S. Air Force. 1997b. Bat Survey Report, Nellis Air Force Base/Nellis Air Force Base, Nevada.
- U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1993. 1990 Census of Population and Housing. Economics and Statistics Administration, U.S. Department of Commerce. Washington, D.C.
- U.S. Bureau of the Census. 2000. 2000 Census: Census Bureau SF1 File.

- U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis. 1997. Regional Economic Information System: 1969-1995. Prepared by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Economic and Statistics Administration, Bureau of Economic Analysis. Washington, D.C.
- NAFB. 2000. Nellis Air Force Base Plan 12, Hazardous Waste Management Plan, November.

__. 2000. Pest Management Plan for Nellis Air Force Base, Las Vegas, Nevada, Plan Period: January 2001-January 2002.

7.0 LIST OF PREPARERS

Jim Campe, NEPA Environmental Manager, 99 CES/CEVN Lynn M. Kitchen, Ph.D., Senior Environmental Scientist, FPM Group, Ltd. Mark Porterfield, P.E. Project Manager, FPM Group, Ltd. Bill Sandeen, 99 CES/CEVN

Appendix A

	ベモト FPM-2003-02					
REQUEST FOR .	VIRONMENTAL IMPACT ANALYSIS	Feport Con RCS		ibel 3 -	37	1
NSTRUCTIONS Section (12 de completed by Proposent Combins d'a et aucessary : Reference aportoriale Abb outr	nd III in be completed or Educumental Planana Europus. Continue in cenarate streets bertsi		107 0	2		_
SECTION I PROPONENT INFORMATION						
TO Environmental Panning Austroni	7. FRUM (Proposent apparential and lunctional approximation		.a. 11	ELEPHON	€ ND	
99 CES/CEVN	49 CES/CECP		(70)	21.65.	2-845	1
) TITLE OF PROPOSED ACTION CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATION	S FACILITY					
communications and data processing require accommunication of Phanasia action und all theathers, 2004 Construct: 81,790 SF facility with reinfor	I consolidated base communications facilities are req itements of the flying mission at Nellis AFB.	nasonry omi wa	lls an	id san	ding :	
PROPONENT APPROVAL (Above and Grade)	er signature	nap and DD re	6h E		10.910	-
STANLEY L. FUELLER. GS-12	Man Ann			100	\$0803	
SECTION II - PRELIMINARY ENVIRONMENTAL SURVEY.	Cher & Americanistic Tax- and the create antennas antennastal affects			1	00003	1
Including canadation effects () + $+$ acostive effect. $\vec{a} = a$				D		1
1. ASH INSTALLATION COMPATIBLE USE 20NEL AND USE WRITE, PC	citert pommus, ancreshment, str.l					
i All QUAUTI Encours attemment status, state mpleamaterics t	afani efc.)					
S WATER RESOLARCES Claubly duantity course mus						
10 SAFLTY AND OCCUPATIONAL NEALTH inteleatins mathematicises in averant bacant, etc. 1	af experient, explosions salety quaente distance. Individide					
11 majar REDUS MA*EPIALS/WASTE Jose animagergameranium, unife a	vesza azz.,					
2 BIOLOGICAL RESOLIPCES . Winnlandfollowing threasturget or and	langured specific HL.					
13 JH TUBAL PESCUPCES Manuel American Initial Islam archaeophips	el paració su:					
14 DEDLOBY AND SOILS 17 apography minerials, protoerous(Instalat	an Restantion Program promote ptc."					
15 SECIDECTINOMIC (Experiment propagation projection), school and	noar trycal moacts, the J					
IE. OTHER (Potential impacts was addressed above.)						
SECTION III ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS DETERMINAT	TON					-
	, FURTHER ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS IS REDURED.					_
PROPOSED ACTION DUBLIFIES FOR CATEGORICAL EX PROPOSED ACTION DOES NOT QUALIFY FOR # CATLs REMARKS						
B EVURGAMENTAL PLANSING FUNCTION DEPT FIGATION Means and Gradei	19a SIGNATURE		196 t	ματε		
			E			

104

1. COMPONENT AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY (comp				data	2. DATE
3. INSTALLATION AND 1	LOCATION		4. P	ROJECT II	TLE	
NELLIS AIR FORCE BAS	e. nevada		CONS	OLIDATED O	COMMUNICATION	S PACILITY
5. PROGRAM ELEMENT	6. CATEGORY CODE	7. PROG	ECT	NUMBER	B, PROJECT (COST (\$000)
27596	131-111	5.30	MF061	1005	19	.000
	9. COS	T ESTIN	ATES			
	TAPN			OTANTITY	UNIT	COST
	1120		U.C.M.	- Grand Law		
CONSOLIDATED COMMUNIC	ATIONS FACILITY		2.2			18,182
CONSOLIDATED COMMUNI	CATIONS FAC		SM	7.538	2.369	(18.002)
ANTITERRORISM/FORCE	PROTECTION		LS			180
SUPPORTING PACILITIES			11			6.849
UTILITIES			LS			(369.)
PAVEMENTS			LS			(258)
SITE IMPROVEMENTS			LS			(400)
COMMUNICATIONS SUPPO	ORT		1.S		1	(4,181)
DEMOLITION			LS			(1,641)
SUBTOTAL				1		25,031
CONTINGENCY 5 0	(%)					1,252
TOTAL CONTRACT COST			0			26,293
SUPERVISION, INSPECTI	ON AND OVERHEAD (5.7 %]	0			1,498
TOTAL REQUEST			1			27.781
TOTAL REQUEST (ROUNDE	101					28,000
EQUIPMENT FROM OTHER	APPROPRIATIONS (NON	-ADD1				1 8,465.0

10. Description of Proposed Construction: Reinforced concrete foundation and floor slab, structural steel frames, split-face masonry unit walls, structural sloping metal seam roof. fire detection and protection system, all utilities, pavements, landscaping and necessary support. Includes the following DoD force protection standards: reinforced walls and laminated windows.

Air Conditioning: 950 KW

11. REQUIREMENT: 7.596 SM ADEQUATE: 0 SM SUBSTANDARD: 5,349 SM

PROJECT: Construct Consolidated Communications Facility (Current Mission)

REQUIREMENT: Adequately sized and properly configured base communications facilities are required to support the various communications and data processing requirements of the flying mission at Nellis AFB. Critical functions include: command section, all network control center (NCC) services, communications maintenance work centers, television production, photographic elements, and all other admin support areas. A consolidated communications facility is required to maintain an effective communications weapons system and reduce duplication of effort. This facility will provide a one-stop shop for sustainer communication requirements. Force protection measures will comply with DoD standards.

CURRENT SITUATION: Current operational readiness is degraded due to the risk of failure of the base network control center facility, which currently provides service to over 8.000 users across 3 wings and the Air Warefare Center. A consolidated facility is desperately needed to relocate from aged and unsafe buildings, centrally locate communication customer service areas, and allow for necessary NCC expansion. Currently,

DD FORM 1391. DEC 76 Previous editions are obsolets.

AIR FORCE		1	erated:		
3 INSTALLATION AND I	JCATION		4. PROJECT 7	ITLE	
NELLIS AIR FORCE BASS	. NEVADA		CONSOLIDATED	COMMUNICATION	S FACILITY
5. PROGRAM ELEMENT	6. CATEGORY CODE	7. PROJ	ECT NUMBER	3. PROJECT :	COST (\$000)
27536	131-111	RKI	(2063005	28	,020
99 CS occupies 3 build laden with asbestor will constructed in 1955, 3 designation and is du houses critical NCC op 150 feet and is over internal ceiling tiles (complete loss of nets following communication e-mail. Internet, Bas- the flying mission. 1 and furniture flue to 3 damages. Support Flis photography customer different buildings "Consolidating Visual support the current as IMPACT IF NOT PROVIDE continued forced oper communications in a p due to inadequate wor readiness and the abi Communications Squadr and inadequate buildi continue to place a b facilities. <u>ADDITIONAL:</u> This pro 1084. "Facility requi actomplishing this pr was done. It indicat requirements. A cert Colonel Keith E. Smit = 81.790 SF.) <u>JOINT USE CENTIFICATI</u> are incompatible with	hich hampers facili has already been as rrently on the Base perations and support inches wide at so s. collapsing them . work capabilities) on services at Nell, a Paging Network, and Buildings 585 and 5 water leaks, several ght operations, inc service ireas, are This separation is Information Activi ad growing communic. D: Without moderni ations in dispersed osition detriments. hity to effectively on will continue to ags. The predicate uge operating burder ject meets the crit resents". A prelimic oject (status quo, es there is only on ificate of exception h, (702) 652-4833. <u>CN:</u> Mission require	ty upgrad signed a Facility rt areas me point, and expo. to netwo. is: NIP, nd sever S5 have of l office luding t. currentl in viol ties". ations m to comme to comme to comme to comme to comme the cur support expend d rapid n on exi eria/sco nary ana renovati e option n has be (Consol ments, o	des/expansion facility Cor / Demolition , has a large s. This crack sing dangerou rk equipment ENET. SIPENET al other serv both suffered s have been of slevision pro- y geographics ation of AFI Current build ission. if the communi- dard facilits and and contri- rent situation ihe war fight scarce resour- future growth sting substan- pe specified lysis of reas- on, upgrade/s- that will as en prepared. idated Commun-	building a dition Code 3 list. Buildi e crack in the k allows wate is asbestos. could several could several closed tempors buttion, grap ally separated 33-117, Parag lings cannot e ication facili iss places bar for decreases o hing mission role operating h of Nellis A dard communic in Air Force sonable option ramoval, new o set operations Base Civil hications Facili hications Facili son decreases of hing mission constructions facility and communic in Air Force sonable option ramoval, new o set operations	<pre>39. (Forced Use ing 589, which r to leak on Maximum damay y impact the ing services. re critical b mage to carpurity due to oblics, and in two graph 1.8. officiently (ties, se sk of failure operational The 99th y in separate 78 will cations handbook 33- is for construction; al Engineer: lity: 7598 S</pre>

. COMPONENT IR FORCE		RY CONSTRUCTION P mputer generated)	ROJECT DATA	2. DATE
. INSTALLATION AND			OJECT TITLE LIDATED COMMUNICA	
NELLIS AIX FORCE BA	SE. NEVADA	OSNOC	LIDATED COMMUNICA	GIONS FACILITY
5. PROGRAM ELEMENT	S. CATEGORY C	ODE 7 PROJECT W	THEER B. PROJECT	: COST (3000)
27536	131-111	REMP0630	C5	28,000
12. SUPPLEMENTAL DA	7λ.			
a. Estimated Desi	gn Daca:			
(1) Status:				
(z) Date Des	ign Started			
		used to develop a	195ta	TES
	Complete as df 01	JAN 2005		
 (d) Date 354 (a) Date 354 	i Designed Nign Complete			
		nalysis was/will b	pe performed	NO
(2) Basist		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1		-10
	l or Definitive De sign Was Most Rec			NO
201 Hunder and	sade was not to.	enery open		
	(c) = (a) + (b) c			(\$000)
	ion of Plans and S ir Design Costs	pecifications		3
(c) Total	ir Design Cosci			0
(d) Contract				3
(a) In-house				0
(4) Constructio	n Contract Award			
(5) Constructio	n Start			
(6) Constructio	a Completion			
* Indirates con	Dietion of Brotes	t Definition with	Parametric Cost	Estimate
		onal 35% design to		
cost and exed	utability,			
b. Eggipment asso	ciated with this	project provided (from other approp	riations
			FISCAL YEAR	
EGUIPMENT NOME	NULATORE	PROCURING APPROPRIATION	APPROPRIATED	(\$000)
	1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.		1457255	
FURNISHINGS		3400	2006	1,405
COMMUNICATIONS	SLECT SQUIPMENT	3400	2006	7.050

DD FORM 1391, DEC 75

INSTALLATION AND LOCATION						
ELLIS AIR FORCE BASE, NEVA	DA (ACC)					
PROJECT TITLE				5. PRO.	IECT NUMBER	
ONSOLIDATED COMMUNICAT		ΓY			RKMF 06-30	05
Primary Facility Costs: Consolidated Co Reference Size (SM) & Price (AF C		1950	\$2.012			
"No CSD Phoing Guide Line Iter		7598	245V-6-			
Facility Size/OSD Ref S		3 8964				
	Guide, Table C1.	0.92				
ACF (OSD	Guide, Table B):	1.28				
	Escalation:	1				
Calculated Pomary		\$2,369.33				
	Guide, Table B): lity Costs (\$000)					18.00.
Antiterrorism/Force Protection	iny cosis (6000)					18(
TOTAL PRIMARY FACILITY COSTS (500	0);					18,18;
Successful Facility Canada		1.000		0.34.3	-	
Supporting Facility Costs JTILITIES (\$000)		11/11	Quantity	Unit Cost	Cost	36
(1011) (0000)	Electric	LM	100	\$'80	\$18,000	50
Electr	ic (Transformer)	K'V A	1500	\$75	\$112,500	
	Parking Lighting	EA	21	\$10,000	\$210,000	
	Water	LM	100	\$130	\$13,000	
	Sewer (Sanitary):	1.M	100	\$150	\$15,000	
SITE IMPROVEMENTS (S000)						400
	ing/Landscaping.	\$M	20000	\$20	\$400,000	401
				1.11		
PAVEMENT (\$000)						25
	Parking	SM	5100	530	\$153,000	
	Streets	SM	3500	\$30	\$105,000	1.45
COMMUNICATIONS SUPPORT(\$000)		- C ME	6240	\$670	\$4,130,800	4,13
			and and	40.6	\$4,100,000	1.64
DEMOLITION (\$000)		SM	5049	\$325	\$1,640,925	
TOTAL SUPPORTING FACILITY (\$000):						6.84
TOTAL PRIMARY FACILITY (\$000):						18,13
Subtotal (\$000)						25,030
Contingency @ 5.0% (\$000)		5.00%				1,253
Total Contract Price (\$000);		121222				26.28
SICH @ 5.7% (\$000). TOTAL REQUEST (\$000)		5 70%				1,49
ICTAL REQUEST ISUUT						27,780

1. COMPONENT			2. DATE
AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PROJ	IECT DATA	6. UP16
3. INSTALLATION A	AND LOCATION		
NELLIS AIR FO	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)		
4. PROJECT TITLE		7. PRO.	ECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	R	KMF 06-3005
	EQUIPMENT FROM OTHER APPROPRIATI	ONS (NON-AI	<u>(DC)</u>
	<u>2N 3400</u>		
FURNISHINGS	\$1 405,000 (FY06) SOURCE 99 CS/SCX		
COMMUNICATIC	NS-ELECTRONIC EQUIPMENT: \$7,060.000 (FY06)	SOURCE.	99 CS/SCX

1. COMPO	ONENT							DATE	
AIR FO	DRCE	FY 2006 MILIT	ARY CON	ISTF	UCTION PROJ	ECT DAT	ΓA		
3. INSTAL	LATION	AND LOCATION							
and the second sec	the second se	RCE BASE, NEV	ADA (AC	E)					
4. PROJE	CT TITLE					7.	PROJEC	T NUME	BER
CONSO	LIDATE	D COMMUNICA	TIONS FA	CILI	TY		RK	VEF 06-	30.05
			1.20010-010	-	OTEN ON DET L	a	erree		
	02	EXISTING FAC	Charles States	24114	131-111 COMM	and the second second	SHEE	1	
		CAILG	OKI COI	16:	151-111 COMM	reli			
SCOPE	OFTH	IS REQUEST: 7	,598 SM				0000	0.02	vo or
REQUI	REMEN"	IS COMPLITATIO	<u>DNS</u>	RE	QUIREMENTS/A	SSETS	SCC (S)	M)	NO. OF BLDGS
		Warfare Center, 57° and 99 th Air Base V		a	Fotal Requiremen	Ĩ	7,5	98	1
2 is ally	24 17 LL 1	and a still page 4			Existing Substand		5,0	49	з
					Existing Adequate			0	0
DEOLT	DEMENT	: AFH 32-1084 and	(HO) (D)		Funded Not in Inv			0	0
		auadron Space Surve		Ľ.	Adequate Assets (62001		52	ų
		Determination She		Ť.	Included in FYXX	Prog		G	0
				g	Deficiency (a-e-f)		7.5	98	1
CAT <u>CODE</u>		IENCLATURE BLDG NO	SCOPE <u>USED</u> (SM)	2	COPE TOTAL <u>BLDG (SM)</u>	COND <u>YR/CD/O</u>		REN	<u>AARKS</u>
b. Existi	ng Subst	andard - 5,049 SM							1
131-111	COMM	FCLTY/589	1924		1924	1956/3/M	asonry	Demo	this request
		FCLTY/595 FCLTY/839	2140 985		2140	1968/3/M	asonry	Demo	this request
		iard = 5.049 SM	983		985	1956/3/	W 000	Demo	this request
g. Defici	ency – 7,	598 SM							1
131-114	COMM	CLTYNEW	7,598						FY 2006 ON request
Total	Deficien	cy = 7,598 SM							1

DD Form 1391c, DEC 76 PREVIOUS EDMON IS OBSOLETE IN THE JSAF (computer generated)

1 COMPONENT				2. DATE
AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRU	ICTION P	ROJECT DATA	
3. INSTALLATION /	AND LOCATION			
	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)			
4. PROJECT TITLE			7. Pf	ROJECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	(RKMF 06-3005
			and the second	
	REQUREMENTS DETER	RMINATIC	N SHEET 1	
IAW AFH 32-1084	i:			
Traditional Office	(private) 162 sf			
	ions (office areas). 135 st			
FULLOTION		1900 and a	Required Space	
EUNCTION Command Section		Persons	(gross sf)	
CS Commander	in .		200	
Deputy Command	6r	-	152	
CS Secretary		- 10	162	
First Sergeant		1	162	
Security Manager		1	135	
Orderly Room		4	567	
Orderly Room Cut	stomer service area	0	108	
CC Conference R		D	84-1	
Lounge/break too		0	500	
Command Section	Subtotal	9-	2840	
SCB Office Areas	5			
SCB Flight Comm	ander	1	162	
SCB Deputy Fligh		1	162	
SCB Flight Superi	ntendent	1	162	
NCC Chief		1	162	
Flight Admin		1	162	
Records Manager	nen:	4.3	405	
	nent shredder room and staging area	0	3100	
Information Assur		4	540	
	ence (IAAP training station)	<u>O</u>	90	
COMSEC Vault		4	540	
3C Functional		1	162	
Workgroup Mana(jement	2	270	

DD Form 1391c, DEC 76 (computer generated)

AIR FORCE			
INSTALLATION AND LOCATION			
THE IN FORMER AND APPLIED AND A			
ELLIS AIR FORCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC) PROJECT TITLE			7. PROJECT NUMBER
PROJECT TITLE			7. PROJECT NUMBER
ONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	¥7.		RKMF 06-3005
REQUIREMENTS DETE	RMINATIC	N SHEET	2
		Required S	
UNCTION	Persons	(gross s	
ADPE/ECO office and equipment areas	-69	920	
ADPE customer service area/window	O	120	
ADPE warehouse/storage area/office supply storage	0	1020	
ADPE receiving/loading dock	Û	200	
PETROPAN A			
AFETS Office	1	162	
TBMCS-UL Contractors	2	276	
Base Telephone Operators (Switchboard)	9	1215	
SCB Office Areas Subtotal	36	9824	
Network Control Center Functions			
Operations Area			
Console Area - Crew Positions	9	1400	
Crew Commander	1	108	
Help Desk/Job Control	2	1512	
Network Administration	8	1512	
Network Management	7	972	
nformation Protection Operations	3	648	
Operations Area Subtotal	35	6152	
	00	or route	
Equipment Areas			
Test Lab/Configuration Area	0	900	
Loaner Closet	0	972	
On/Off Base Circuit Equipment		450	
Messaging Services Equipment Area	6	864	
Open Equipment Room	D	1800	
Secret Open Storage Room	0	3-51	
Frame Room/Cable Vault	0	500	
Mechanical/Electrical Equipment Room	0	2000	
Diesel Generator Room	0	300	
Equipment Area Subtotal	6	8137	
Support Areas	<u>s</u>	1200	
Quality Assurance	2	324	
Walk-in Service	1	108	

AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRU	ICTION PR	OJECT D	AIA	
INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION				
	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)			-	
PROJECT TITLE				7. PROJE	CT NUMBER
ONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		R.K	INIF 06-3005
	REQUIREMENTS DETEI	RMINATIO	N SHEET	3	
	nedonienen o berei		Required St		
UNCTION		Persons	(gross si	and the second se	
raining Room		0	1200		
raining Staff		1	216		
/eb Page Mainte	inance	1	162		
	ment/Network Technicians	в	1620		
ngineering (SCN		5	540		
onference Roon		0	350		
C Maintenance		2	648		
torage		0	200		
reak Area		ő	495		
upport Area Sub	elotal	20	5863		
let NCC Floor Ar			20452		
			20152		
	tion, Utilities, and Walls (20 percent)		4030 4		
otal Gross Floor	Area	61	24182:-	2.1.1.	
CX Office Area	S				
CX Flight Comm	lander	1	162		
light Admin/Cusi	iomer Service Area	1	162		
A Functional		1	162		
CX Flight Confe	rence Room	0	275		
DY Room (Sterr	-B, Project Team support)	(temp)	400		
udget Office	na an ann an Air ann ann ann an Air an Ai	2	270		
1obility Office		4	540		
	vrea/WM storage area	0	700		
CXR	n mani na 117 ani ang	8	1680		
CXX		7	945		
	ocument storage/CAD equip. Room	0	540		
CX Office Areas		24	5196		
		0000	- TU (17)74)		
CS Office Area					
CS Flight Comm		1	162		
CS Deputy Fligh		1	162		
CS Flight Super	intendent	1	162		

COMPONENT	FY 2006 MILITARY CONST	RUCTION PR		2. DATE
AIR FORCE		Rection	COLO I DAI	
INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION			
ELLIS AIR FO	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)			
PROJECT TITLE			7. P	ROJECT NUMBER
ONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNICATIONS FACE.	ITY		RKMF 06-300
	REQUIREMENTS DE	TERMINATIO	N SHEET 4	
			Required Space	5
FUNCTION		Persons	(cross sf)	
Flight Admin			162	
SCS Flight Confe	rence Room	0	275	
VI Support		3	405	
Base Visual Info I	Manager		162	
Publishing Chief			135	
	port/ Video MX Support	17	2296	
Customer Service		0	120	
	Area (Graphics)	õ	120	
	a Area (AV library)	0	120	
Customer Service		0	120	
Audiovisual Libra		0	570	
Graphic Arts (Cla		13		
	(Type A w/ARD and NAF)		2000	
	tion Facility (Type B)	13	5500	
Production Mainte		22	BOCO	
	Contractor Contractor	0	1000	
SP2 Chice/Setvic	ce Areas Subtotal	74	21570	
SCM Office Area	S			
SCM Flight Com	nander	1	162	
SCM Deputy Fligs		Ť	162	
SCM Flight Super		1	162	
Flight Admin Area		÷.	162	
SCM Flight Confe		0	275	
Job/Maintenance		7	945	
Frequency Manag		7	945	
Land Mobile Radi		5	675	
	om for incoming equipment)	0	360	
	d programming console area:	0	240	
Secure Comm M		3	405	
Ground Radio MX		29		
			3915	
System Support (8	1080	
	ns (SCMPC and SCMPK)	14	1890	
SCM Office Area	300(0tal	77	11378	

.

COMPONENT				2. DATE
AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONST	RUCTION PRO	JECIDATA	
INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION			
FLLIS AIR FC	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)			
PROJECT TITLE			7. PRC	JECT NUMBER
ONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNICATIONS FACILI	TY		RKMF 06-3005
	REQUIREMENTS DET			
FUNCTION		Eersons Es	equired Space (cross af)	
Squadron Stora	ge Areas		Detropolity	
ndoor Storage S	pace for Commercial Comm	a	500	
	pace for Cable MX	0	1500	
	pace for BTS Contractor	0	500	
Indoor Storage S	pace for 99 CS Project Materials	0	1500	
	pace for Ground Radio	0	2000	
	pace for SCMY (Material Control)	0	800	
Indoor Storage S	pace Subtotal	.0	6800	
	E REQUIREMENTS FOR CCF	distance of the		





1. COMPONENT	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PR	2. DATE
AIR FORCE		1
3. INSTALLATION		
4. PROJECT TITL	ORCE BASE. NEVADA (ACC)	7. PROJECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDAT	ED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	RKMF 06-3005
	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIAN	CE
requiring additional as appropriate comment and submit it to the M	ist appropriate response for each topic area to show ourrent status its, fill in the blank with appropriate information. If none of the prints . For MELCON projects, the Givil Engineer Squadron Commander a AUCOM staff where it will be updated retained, and be readily avail initial Impact Analysis Process (AFI 32-7061)	ed statements is appropriate, add or attach on ind installation commander must sign the pertification of the set of the
Environn is <u>1 Jul (</u> Finding () Draft En is Draft ElS Final ElS Record () Foreign Environn Is Environn	of No Significant Environmental Impact signed on vironmental Impact Statement (EIS) under prepar S filed on of Decision signed on nation or protected global resource exemption nu nental study (or review underway) under preparat nental study (or review) completed on	ation. Expected completion date
Cate is Project is Project is	s not sited in a wetland. s sited in a wetland. Requirements of EO 11990 r	
3. Flood Plain	s (AFI 32-7064)	
Project : completi Project :	s not sited in a 100-year floodplain. s sited in a 100-year floodplain. Requirements of on date is s sited in a 100-year floodplain. Requirements of of "No Practicable Alternative" signed or	
4. Coastal Zor	ne Management (AFI 32-7064)	
Consiste	loes not directly affect a state coastal zone ncy determination being developed Estimated c ncy determination completed on	ompletion date is

DD Form 1391c, DEC 76
1. COMPONENT		2. DATE
AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION	ON PROJECT DATA
	N AND LOCATION	
NELLIS AIR P	FORCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)	
4. PROJECT TIT	LE	7 PROJECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDA	TED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	RKMF 06-3005
5 Coastal B:	arrier Resources (AFI 32-7064)	
	is not sited within the Coastal Barrier Reso excepted from the Coastal Barrier Resource	
	ation with the Regional Director, United Sta	
in progr	ess. Estimated completion date is	
E Consult	ation with the Regional Director, USFWS, o	concluded on
6. <u>Threatene</u>	d and Endangered Species (AFI 32-7064)	
⊠ Project	has no potential for affecting threatened or	endangered species or critical habitats
Based	upon advice from USFWS or host nation lia	ison on, threatened or
	ered species in the vicinity of the project wi ation with USFWS is uncerway in accordar	
Formal	consultation with the Regional Director, US	FWS, completed on
	al Assessment is required. Estimated com al opinion issued by USFWS on	ipletion date is
7. <u>Cultural R</u>	esource Management (AFI 32-7065)	
		a Programmatic Agreement that was fully
	id with the State Historic Preservation Offic area has not been surveyed for historic pro	er and the ACHIP on operties. Survey requirements are identified
in the A	-106 system and the estimated completion	date is
	area has been surveyed and no historic pro	
	ation Officer (SHPO) was notified by letter dentified historical properties but the project	
SHPO	notified by letter dated	
	ensultation, SHPO concurred by letter dated effect on the historic properties. The Adve	
	by letter dated and concurred in write	
	will have an adverse effect on historic prop	
	emorandum of agreement (MOA) mitigatin	g me adverse enect was executed
🖂 Esti	mated date to execute the MOA is	
	MOA was developed and the formal comme will affect a site or property of interest to Na	ents of the Council are being sought.
	an Tribe or Group contacted on	auve Americana, Appropriate Native

DD Form 1391c, DEC 76 (computer generated)

1. COMPO	The second se	2. DATE
AIR FO	DRCE FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PR	OJECT DATA
3. INSTAL	LLATION AND LOCATION	
	A/R FORCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)	
4. PROJE	ICT TITLE	7 PROJECT NUMBER
CONSO	LIDATED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	RKMF 06-3005
8. <u>Inter</u>	governmental Coordination for Environmental Plann	ning (AFI 32-7060)
n C dΩ □ □ □	Coordination of proposed project with the state Single Po of required. Coordination with the state Single Point of Contact is in pro- ompletion is	rogress Expected date of igle Point of Contact or other
III N (e Ø T	ronmental Permits (AFIs 32-7040, 32-7041, 32-7042, 3 lo permits are required, lo permits are required, but regulatory agency notification e.g., underground storage tank removal.) the following permit is required prior to construction: Clark County Dust Permit	
10. <u>Pote</u>	entially Regulated Substances (AFIs 32-1052, 32-704	2)
î	Asbestos INot present I Survey underway (during design) Present: scheduled for removal as required by applica	able state regulations.
	Lead-Based Paint: Not present Survey underway (during design) Present: Mitigation is not necessary, as insufficient qu Present (Describe mitigation, or state why mitigation is LBP will be mitigated during construction in accordance	s not necessary.)
1	Ozone Depleting Substance Not present Survey underway (during design) Present (Describe mitigation, or state why mitigation i	s not necessary.)
1	Polychlonnated Biphenyls (PCBs): Not present Survey underway (during cesign) Present (Describe mitigation, or state wny mitigation i	s not necessary.)
1	Radon: □ Not present ⊠ Survey underway (during design) □ Present (Describe mitigation, or state why mitigation i	s not necessary.)
1	Other known hazardous or toxic substances and pollutar Not present Survey underway (during design) Present (Describe mitigation, or state why mitigation is	

1. COMPONENT		2. DATE
AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PRO	DJECT DATA
3. INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION	
NELLIS AIR FO	RCE BASE NEVADA (ACC)	
4. PROJECT TITLE		7. PROJECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDATE	ED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	RKMF 06-3005
11 Radon at N	w Construction Sites	
🗆 Not pr	esent Survey underway (during cesign) Int (Describe mitigation, or state why mitigation is	not necessary.)
12. Installation	Restoration Program (IRP)	
Facility is Facil	i not siled on or near an IRP site near an IRP site approximately feet away on an IRP site. juest for waiver was submitted to MAJCOM on. site is projected to be remediated and/or closed of nencement of construction activities nature of the site contamination does not preclud osed. medial Investigation Feasibility Study was compli- eate the aerial extent of the contamination.	e the type of construction activity
3. Air Poilutan	ts (AFI 32-7040)	
☑ Will be g amount o additiona ∑ Conform	be generated by the operation or construction of enerated by the operation or construction of this of substance expected to be generated, existing a controls. Dust ity determination is not required. Ity determination is required.	facility. Describe the type and
14. Solid and H	azardous Wastes (AFIs 32-7042/7080)	
 Facility w Facility w 	nill not be used for managing solid or hazardous v nill be used for managing solid or hazardous was	vastes. tes.
15. <u>Undergroun</u>	d Storage Tanks (AFI 32-7044) (Check all tha	t apply.)
New und Existing 1 Conta Conta Conta Conta	rground tanks are involved. erground tanks will be installed. tanks on project site will be removed. Ensure reg amination exists. amination does not exist. amination UNKNOWN.	gulatory agency has been notified.

 Facility is sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category for the following reason Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance critena, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) critena. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	1. COMPONENT					2. DATE
	AIR FORCE	FY 2006 MILI	TARY CONSTRU	ICTION PROJEC	TDATA	
4. PROJECT TITLE 7. PROJECT NUMBER CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY RKMF 06-3005 16. Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AFI 32-7063) RKMF 06-3005 17. Pacility is sited in compliance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICU2) Study No noise level reduction of 35 db will be provided in design and construction. Noise level reduction of 35 db will be provided in design and construction. 17. Base Comprehensive Plan (AFI 32-7062) Stack waver nas been granted. 17. Base Comprehensive Plan (AFI 32-7062) Facility is sited in compatible land use category. 17. Facility is sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category. 17. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category. Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance criteria, including clear zones. accident potential zones, and arfield airspace (height obstruction) onteria. 18. Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	and the second se	ND LOCATION				
CONSOLIDATED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY RKMF 06-3005 16. Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AFI 32-7063)	NELLIS AIR FO	RCE BASE. NE	EVADA (ACC)			
 16. Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AFI 32-7063) Facility is siled in compliance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study No noise level reduction is required. 27. Facility is siled in compliance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study No noise level reduction of 25 db will be provided in design and construction. 28. Noise waiver has been granted. 17. Base Comprehensive Plan (AFI 32-7062) 29. Facility is sited in compatible land use category. 20. Facility is sited in compatible land use category for the following reason 18. Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) 20. Facility is no sited in compatible land use category for the following reason 18. Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) 21. Facility is no site of in compatible clearance criteria, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) onteria. 21. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	4. PROJECT TITLE				7. PROJE	CT NUMBER
 Facility is sited in compliance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study No noise level reduction is required. Facility is sited in compliance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study Noise level reduction of 35 db will be provided in design and construction. Noise waiver request is being processed. Noise waiver has been granted. Base Comprehensive Plan (AFI 32-7062) Facility is not sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category for the following reason Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-7062) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance ontena, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) ontena. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is A temporary waiver for construction activity in the airfield vicinity was approved on	CONSOLIDATE	D COMMUNIC	ATIONS FACILI	TY	RK	MF 06-3005
No noise level reduction is required. Facility is sited in complance with the Air Installation Compatible Use Zone (AICUZ) Study Noise level reduction of <u>35</u> db will be provided in design and construction. Noise waiver has been granted. Facility is sited in compatible land use category. Facility is not sited in compatible land use category for the following reason Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-7062) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance ontena, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) ontena. Arguest for waiver to airfield airspace (height obstruction) ontena. Arguest for waiver for construction activity in the airfield vicinity was approved on	16. <u>Air Installati</u>	on Compatible	<u>Use Zone (AFI 32</u>	-7063)		
 Facility is not sited in compatible land use category for the following reason Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance critena, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) criteria. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	No noise Facility is Noise lev Noise wa	level reduction is sited in complia el reduction of <u>3</u> iver request is bi	s required. nce with the Air Ins 5 db will be provide eing processed.	stallation Compatib	le Use Zone	
 Facility is not sited in compatible land use category for the following reason. Airfield Clearance Criteria (AFI 32-1026) Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance critena, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and arrifeld airspace (height obstruction) criteria. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is A temporary waiver for construction activity in the airfield vicinity was approved on	17. Base Comp	rehensive Plan	(AFI 32-7062)			
 Facility is in compliance with airfield clearance criteria, including clear zones, accident potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) criteria. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	 Facility is Facility is 	sited in compati not sited in com	ble land use categ patible land use ca	ory. Itegory for the follo	wing reason	
potential zones, and airfield airspace (height obstruction) critería. A request for waiver to airfield/airspace clearance criteria is being prepared. Expected completion date is	18. Airfield Clea	irance Criteria (AFI 32-1026)			
Administrator, FAA. Project sent to Regional FAA on 20. Explosives Quantity/Distance Siting and Safety Clearance Criteria a. Projects involving munitions storage and explosives related facilities. Project is not affected by Q/D criteria A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Request ic waiver safety criteria sent to MAJCOM on Explosive siting and safety approval obtained on b. Projects not involving explosives. Project is not within the Q/D Clear Zone from any existing or proposed explosive-relate facility. A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for site plan review by is required. Expected date is Exemption required and granted on	A reques completic A tempor on	zones, and airfie t for waiver to air on date is ary waiver for co	eld airspace (heigh field/airspace clea enstruction activity	obstruction) criteri rance criteria is bei in the airfield vicinit	a. ng prepared y was appro	Expected
Administrator, FAA. Project sent to Regional FAA on 20. Explosives Quantity/Distance Siting and Safety Clearance Criteria a. Projects involving munitions storage and explosives related facilities. Project is not affected by Q/D criteria A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Request to waiver safety criteria sent to MAJCOM on Explosive siting and safety approval obtained on b. Projects not involving explosives. Project is not within the Q/D Clear Zone from any existing or proposed explosive-relate facility. A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Explosive for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Description required and granted on Project for site plan review by	19. <u>Air Space U</u>	se				
 a. Projects involving munitions storage and explosives related facilities. Project is not affected by Q/D criteria A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Request to waiver safety criteria sent to MAJCOM on	Administr	rator, FAA.		es not require subi	mittal to Reg	ional
 Project is not affected by Q/D criteria A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Request to waiver safety criteria sent to MAJCOM on Explosive siting and safety approval obtained on b. Projects not involving explosives. Project is not within the Q/D Clear Zone from any existing or proposed explosive-relater facility. A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for site plan review by is required. Expected date is 	20. Explosives	Quantity/Distan	ce Siting and Saf	ety Clearance Crit	eria	
 A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Request to waiver safety criteria sent to MAJCOM on Explosive siting and safety approval obtained on b. Projects not involving explosives. Project is not within the Q/D Clear Zone from any existing or proposed explosive-relater facility. A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for surver is under preparation. Expected completion date is A request for site plan review by is required. Expected date is 	a. Projects ir	volving munition	s storage and exp	losives related facil	ities.	
 Project is not within the Q/D Clear Zone from any existing or proposed explosive-relater facility. A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Exemption required and granted on is required. Expected date is A request for site plan review by is required. Expected date is 	A requ Reque	lest for waiver is ist to waiver safe	under preparation	AJCOM on	tion date is	
A request for waiver is under preparation. Expected completion date is Exemption required and granted on A request for site plan review by is required. Expected date is	b. Projects n	ot involving expl	osives.			
ND Form 12010 DEC 76	facility A requ	, lest for waiver is	under preparation	Expected comple	tion date is	
						PAGE NO. 5 CF 7

(computer generated)

1. COMPONENT	FY 2006 MILITARY CONSTRUCTION PROJECT DATA	2. DATE
INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION	
NELLIS AIR FO	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)	
4. PROJECT TITLE	7. PRO	JECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDATE	ED COMMUNICATIONS FACILITY	KMF 06-3005
Carnouflage	rvivability, Conventional Hardening, Chemical Protection Le , Concealment and Deception oes not affect arease operability.	vels and Prioritie
 ☐ Facility is ☐ Waiver of 	sited or constructed in compliance with criteria contained in WM r exemption required, request submitted to MAJCOM Civil Engin accordance with WMP-1	
22. Allowance I	or Physically Handicapped	
Project p Project p Design f	rovides all design features for the handicapped rovides access and limited features, rovides access but no other features, eatures for handicapped are not required, eatures will not be provided for the following reason	
23. <u>Real Estate</u>	Requirement (AFI 32-9001)	
Project of	oes not require acquisition of real estate interest. equires the acquisition of a real estate interest over \$200,000, erest is to be acquired through minor land authority. Explain)	
24. Facility Sec	urity	
🖾 Crime Pr	ssessment performed by OSI. evention through Environmental Design methods to be incorpora ied (See local Security Forces.)	ited into design,
25. <u>Excess Spa</u>	<u>ce</u>	
🛛 Excess s	pace is not available to satisfy this requirement.	
26. <u>Temporary</u>	Facilities	
Tempora Tempora the proje	ry facilities are not required for this project. ry facilities are required for this project and will be disposed of up ct.	oon completion of
D Form 1391c.	DEC 76 PREVIOUS EDITION IS OBSOLETE IN THE USUR	PAGE NO. 6 OF 7

(computer generated)

1. S. MARCARO, M. COMPARISON, N. P. 199

1. COMPONENT	FY 2006 MILITARY CONST		DATA 2. DATE
AIR FORCE	Sec.	ROCHON PROJECT	PATA
. INSTALLATION	AND LOCATION		
and the figure of the second se	RCE BASE, NEVADA (ACC)		
4. PROJECT TITLE			7 PROJECT NUMBER
CONSOLIDATE	ED COMMUNICATIONS FAC	LITY	RKMF 06-3005
27. <u>Command.</u>	Control, Communications, and	I Computer (C4) Syste	ms Support
	munication requirements have b appropriately updated.	een reviewed and the pa	ase C4 systems blueprint
28. <u>Energy Con</u>	servation		
🗵 Project o	omplies with the minimum energ	y conservation performa	ance standards.
29. <u>Seismic Co</u>	nsiderations		
	evaluations performed. deficiencies, identified by the sei	smic evaluation, mitigati	ed
	ELLER, 99 CES/CECP_DSN 68 ntact/Office Symbol/Telephone (
I concur with the	above statements.		
KIMBERLEE J. E Deputy Base Cav			2103
GERALD E. SAV Colonel, USAF	VYER h Air Base Wing	<u> </u>	n 03

(computer generated)

PAGE NO. 7 OF 7

Appendix B



Photograph 4. View of the project site from the south side towards the north side.



Photograph 5. View of the project site from the southwest corner towards the northeast corner.



Photograph 6. View of the project site from the northwest corner to the southeast corner. Note the Thunderbird hanger in the background.



Photograph 7. View of the project site from the east side towards the west.



Photograph 8. Picnic area located in the central portion of the project site.



Photograph 9. Groundwater treatment facility located east of the project site.



Photograph 10. Dormitory area located northwest of the project site.



Photograph 11. View of the project side looking east along Offut Avenue.



Photograph 12. Building 899 located east of the project site.